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Friday, September 3, 2010


--- Upon commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.

This is day 5 of the Board's hearing into the notice of intention to make an order that has been designated as File No. EB-2010-0221.

Today we will hear evidence from the Summitt Energy Management Inc., a continuation of yesterday.  I think our expectation is that we will have four witnesses today.

MR. SELZNICK:  Four?  Four, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And are there any preliminary matters?  There being none, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Perhaps just while the witness is being sworn, this witness will be speaking to the allegations in paragraphs 5.1.2 -- sorry, 5.1.2, 5.1.3, 5.1.4 and 5.1.5 of the notice of intention of June 17th.  It is agent A.T.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.

MR. SELZNICK:  And just for organizational purposes, if you can have the three Summitt Energy binders, the sales kit binder 2, which is sales agents' sales and compliance training materials, and Summitt Energy compliance and regulatory materials, volume 3, and the four witness binders for the complainants.  Thank you.
A.T., SWORN
Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Good morning.

A.T.:  Good morning.

MR. SELZNICK:  We spoke about this earlier before the hearing, but just to refresh your memory, to maintain people's confidentiality in these proceedings, we're only going to refer to you by your initials, A.T.  So please don't use your real name.  When we are speaking of any of the complainants in this proceeding, we will be referring to them by their initials, as well.  In the little binders Ms. Sinnott may pass to you from time to time, you will see their names and initials, and I would ask you to refer to them by initials or, if it is easier, just the customer or some other word you may use, but not by their real names.  Thank you.

Sir, you were a sales agent with Summitt Energy at some point in time?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you worked for Summitt Energy, can you tell me who you were employed by?

A.T.:  Vi Va International.

MR. SELZNICK:  And is it fair to say that Vi Va International provided your services to Summitt Energy to sell electricity and gas contracts door to door?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Can you tell me roughly the period of time when you were doing that work for Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  End of 2006, like, December, up to 2009, September, October.

MR. SELZNICK:  So just for reference purposes, this notice of intention in this proceeding is dated June 17th, 2010.  You were no longer working for Summitt Energy at that time?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay, thank you.

And you didn't come to Summitt Energy as an inexperienced salesman.  Had you had experience in the sale of natural gas and electricity before?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you tell us about that?

A.T.:  From '99, I used to work with Direct Energy, then Superior Energy.

MR. SELZNICK:  So I didn't get the year.  When did you start doing that?

A.T.:  '99.

MR. SELZNICK:  1999?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Fine.  Thank you.  When you were with Summitt Energy, can you give me a brief description, generally, of what your job was?

A.T.:  Basically, it was a door-to-door sales, you know, just offering the product.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, I am going to turn your mind to the training you received at Summitt Energy both before you started to work with Summitt Energy, and then while you were working at Summitt Energy.  So let's talk about, firstly, when you started with Summitt Energy.

Can you tell me, generally, about the training you received when you started with Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  Yeah, I received.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain it?  What was the training you received?

A.T.:  It was a three hours' training in the office.

MR. SELZNICK:  Was it classroom training?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Was there an instructor?

A.T.:  There was an instructor.  There is material.  There is a PowerPoint presentation.

MR. SELZNICK:  Tell me about the material.

A.T.:  Material is, like, usually it was code of conduct.  You just follow that and follow the procedures, make it -- you know, presentation online.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the PowerPoint was instructed by someone at the meeting?

A.T.:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how long did that training take?

A.T.:  Three, four hours.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And you said you had experience prior to working with Summitt Energy.  How would you compare that initial training with the training you received at the other energy suppliers?

A.T.:  Same training.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  In that initial training, were you taught how to speak to potential customers?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if I could, Ms. Sinnott, who is -- I apologize I didn't introduce you -- who is sitting next to the witness to hand him documents.  Ms. Sinnott, could you just show the witness binder 2 at tab 1C?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Actually, I would prefer it if the witness could try to find the material, and then if that becomes a difficulty, then assistance is certainly helpful.

MR. SELZNICK:  I will rephrase the question.  Can you hand him the book, Ms. Sinnott?  And could you turn in that binder to tab 1B, as in "boy", and then to page 17?

Now, I appreciate your training was sometime in 2006, early 2007, but just take a moment and take a look at this page.  Can you tell me, is this representative of the type of sales script that you were shown in your training?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  You can just put that away for now.

Can you tell me what discussions there were in your initial training about the regulatory requirements of the Ontario Energy Board Act or the consumer protection regulations?

A.T.:  The first thing is just, like, introduce you, where you came, introduction -- I mean introduce you and identify yourself with your badge ID.  That's the first line.

And the second phrase was what you are offering.  We are offering the five years' price protection plan.  That was the whole thing.  And at the end, you have to make it clear to the customer, Do you have any questions?  Ask them, to make it clear.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you recall the discussions in your training -- I know it was in 2006 - in your training about the gas marketers' and electricity marketers' codes of conduct?  Do those names sound familiar?  Do those two names sound familiar to you?

A.T.:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  Tell us something about your training concerning those.

A.T.:  Training?  Always you have to have, like, three identification -- I mean, beside the badge ID, you have to have two identification, like a shirt or hat, to just...  And you have to always follow the code of conduct, so you don't have to go around them.

MR. SELZNICK:  Were you given copies of the codes of conduct in your training?

A.T.:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  And was the need to follow those codes of conduct discussed in your training?

A.T.:  Yes, always.

MR. SELZNICK:  Were there things that you were trained not to say to people in your training?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell us what some of those were?

A.T.:  For example, we are not from local utility, or we are from Summitt Energy Management, the supplier.

MR. SELZNICK:  Anything else?

A.T.:  That's pretty much it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you describe for the Board whether you had any particular kind of uniform that you would wear while you were working with Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Could you describe for the Board what that uniform was?

A.T.:  In summertime, it is a shirt, like usually golf shirt, always with the Summitt logo.  The colour is green, blue, white.  Spring is a spring jacket.  Winter is a winter jacket.  Also the hat with the logo, winter hat or summer hat.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you could, could you take a look at the little binder you have there called:  "Summitt Energy sales kit" for a moment?

A.T.:  Sorry. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Take your time.  This little binder is called on the front:  "Summitt Energy sales kit."  If you could go to tab -- in that binder, tab 5, tab 5 of that binder.

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Could you just take a moment and flip through these pages and identify for the Board which items here you would wear on sales calls?  And you will see in the upper right-hand corner they're numbered.  So you could just say Number 1, I did or didn't, as you flip through.  

A.T.:  Number 2 and number 4.

MR. SELZNICK:  So number 2 and number 4 were items of clothing you would wear during your sales calls?  

A.T.:  In summertime, yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Keep going.  

A.T.:  Number 9, the hat, again, summertime.

Number 11, autumn and winter.  

Number 14, in wintertime.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  

And when you were on those sales calls -- just while you have that binder out, would you go to the next tab, which is tab 6 of that binder?  And can you tell me what this is?

A.T.:  Badge ID, identification. 

MR. SELZNICK:  This isn't your picture, obviously; it is a sample.  But can you tell us about these Summitt badges?  What did you do with them?  

A.T.:  You always put it on top, visible to the customer.  Always customer can see who I am, what's my name, what is my last name, what is my badge ID number.  Also there is a telephone number of everything, and Ontario Energy Board licence number for gas, Ontario Energy Board licence number for the electricity.  So we are licensed people to register people for the natural gas and for electricity.

MR. SELZNICK:  And where would you carry this badge when you went to see people?  Where would it be on your person?

A.T.:  Always put it like that.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Maybe if you could just stand a little bit.  I can't see you over the...

A.T.:  It goes here and here.  So it means we are authorized people to come to your door, explain to you products, five years' protection.  That is the licence with Ontario Energy Board, so we are authorized people.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

So let's go back to your training program a little bit here.

At the end of the training program, you then went into the field?  You started to work?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Now, let's talk about training on an ongoing basis.  So you are now trained.  You had prior experience, you spoke about.  You spoke about the training at Summitt being similar to the training you had taken at other -- at your previous employers.

Now you are working.  Tell us about your training during your -- the time you are working with Summitt.  What did that entail?

A.T.:  Same training.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Tell us what happened.  What did you do -- I don't want to put words in your mouth, but what happened while you were working?  What was the normal order of business?

A.T.:  You mean training, right?  

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes. 

A.T.:  Training, it means they just train you, the same procedures, to just follow the code of conduct and selling the product to the customer, potential customer. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Let me put it in other words.  Did you ever speak to your manager about training?

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  How often was that?  

A.T.:  Once a week.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Tell us about those meetings.  Were they on the same day every week?  

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  What day?

A.T.:  Monday. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And what time?  

A.T.:  Roughly about 10 a.m. 

MR. SELZNICK:  How long did they last on average?  

A.T.:  Three hours.

MR. SELZNICK:  Tell us what went on in those meetings.

A.T.:  Updated the information about gas market price.  Also feedback information about marketing.  And follow -- and also at the end of, like, one-and-a-half hour in the meeting, about the complaints, the agent has the complaints.  Discussion about the complaints.

And the way you prevent the complaints.  You just follow the procedure, make it clear to the customer.  They don't have any questions.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And were you ever asked, in those sessions, to demonstrate your sales presentation?  

A.T.:  That's right.  We always have a demonstration training presentation.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you ever change how you did the sales presentation out of what those meetings discussed?  

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And then those were the weekly meetings.  Were there any other kinds of meetings you had?  

A.T.:  Yeah.  Like twice a month with my office manager, personal one-by-one meeting.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what did you discuss during those meetings?

A.T.:  Same thing, you know, make it clear.  Customer didn't have any more questions.  When you leave the door, it is clear.  So you just added the last line:  Do you have any questions?  And say, if they said no:  Have a good day.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And did you receive any training, after you started, from Summitt Energy?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell us about that?  

A.T.:  I mean, some presentation, one-by-one presentation at the office, some training.  That's pretty much...

MR. SELZNICK:  Were there any regular meetings that Summitt Energy attended at your manager's office?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  How often did those occur?  

A.T.:  It would be once a month or every, you know, couple of weeks they come from head office.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Now, let's talk a little bit about your sales activity and how you actually performed your duties as a door-to-door sales agent.  

Now, how did you decide to -- which potential customers to approach?

A.T.:  I mean, we worked door-to-door, and also with the list.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you have a territory that you were directed to work to?

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  What was your territory?  What general geographic area?

A.T.:  Usually, it is more downtown area, Canadian area.  Not the people –- the first language is English.  It is more Canadian.

Toronto, and -- downtown of Toronto.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Who designated that area for you?  

A.T.:  The office manager.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And did they provide you with any direction on who you should speak to?  

A.T.:  No.  Just they provide us a list, and I work personally combination of door-to-door and the list.  So not only a list.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And the list was a list of what?

A.T.:  Real estate.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  New homeowners?

A.T.:  Yes.  MLS.

MR. SELZNICK:  And why did you think the new homeowners might be an opportunity as a customer?

A.T.:  Because the assumption is they didn't register as -- they didn't -- they don't have any commitment for the contract, for five years' contract.  The assumption was they don't have it.  They don't have any commitment. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And the -- you gave in your evidence a little while ago that you always wore a uniform, and you pointed to some of the pictures of the different things you would wear at different times of the year. 

While you were working at Summitt Energy, just to repeat, you always wore a uniform?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you tell us something about your working day?  What times of the day would you work, normally?  

A.T.:  I personally work like 11:00, 12:00 o'clock a.m. to 7:00, 8:00 p.m. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And why that late in the day did you start, and why did you go that late into the evening?  

A.T.:  Because late in the evening, everybody is home.  You can see more people.  You can talk to the live person instead of nobody's home.  So you have a chance to talk to the people, because everybody is home after 6:00, 7:00.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you were making these sales calls, what did you take with you to the sales calls?  

A.T.:  Just a binder, and I wear the uniform and my badge ID. 

MR. SELZNICK:  What were the things in the binder?  

A.T.:  Registration form, brochure, with a flyer, like, price guaranteed hundred percent, the blue one.  Also the list, and the pen and some paper. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Can I take you back to the sales kit --actually, it is not the sales kit.  Oh, yes, the sales kit volume for a moment.

And just look at tab 1 for a moment.  And if you would just sort of scan through tab 1, Can you tell me what these documents are?  Can you tell me what these are?

A.T.:  This is registration form.

MR. SELZNICK:  And are these the kinds of registration forms that you would carry in your binder?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And are these registration forms, if you will just quickly look at them, examples of the kinds you would use during the period that you worked for Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  So if you go to tab 2 now of that same binder, can you flip through these items at tab 2 and tell me what they are?

A.T.:  Where is tab 2?  Okay.  That is a brochure.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you ever on your own have occasion to read what it said?

A.T.:  Yes.  I read it inside, fine print.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you go to tab -- these are the kinds of brochures you would have in your binder?

A.T.:  Always use this one.  There is a house picture on it.  I always use this one.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And go now to tab 3 of that binder, if you wouldn't mind.

A.T.:  Tab?

MR. SELZNICK:  Tab 3.

A.T.:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you tell me what these documents are at tab 3?

A.T.:  Always put this flyer inside the brochure and the copy of the registration form and give it to the customer.  That's the price protection guarantee hundred percent.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you look at the back of those forms, the one at tab 3 -- either one, you will see a space for the independent sales representative's name and his ID number.  Was it your practice to fill those in, as well, with your number and name?

A.T.:  Yeah, beside my name, and my ID number is on the registration form.  I always put my name and my ID number here.  If they have any questions, they can call directly to me.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you go to tab 7 of that same binder way at the back there, you will see that these are photocopies of newspaper articles and things broken down by tabs.

Do any of these look familiar to you?

A.T.:  Yes.  These articles, every Monday meeting they provide us with the feedback of this newspaper.  So we put a few of them in the binder.  If the customer has any question, we just show them as a feedback.

MR. SELZNICK:  So just take a moment and flip through this tab 7, and then I would like to ask you a question about it.

Are these representative of the kinds of flyers that you would get at your weekly meetings and show people on your sales calls?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  May I just approach the witness for a moment?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am just handing to you -- these aren't the actual ones, but I am handing you samples of the actual ones.  Will you hold them for a second?

Now, on your sales calls, would you just for us demonstrate, after a successful sales call, how you would give those documents to the customer?

A.T.:  I just put my ID number here.

After we did registration form in front of the eye of the customer, like, face to face, this is my copy, that is your copy.  Put in here my name, my first name, my last name, my information on your copy.  I put this certificate here; just give it to the customer.

MR. SELZNICK:  You can put that down now.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if the binder might be reconstituted after the witness is finished.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sure.  What if someone wasn't at home?  Would you leave something at the door?

A.T.:  Yeah.  If you have a flyer, I put this, again.  This one, sorry.

MR. SELZNICK:  That's a sample.

A.T.:  On the other one, there is my first name, my last name, my ID number.  I just leave it on there, like, a flyer on their mailbox or at the door, so if they interested, they can call the company, so -- while we are in the neighbourhood, because we are offering the price protection.

So if the husband or wife is coming home, they can read it.  If they are interested, they can call the company.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if someone -- sit down.  If someone is at home and they said to you, I really don't have the time to read this now or -- I don't know.  Would you leave them anything?

A.T.:  Yeah.  I always leave the -- if we have extra brochure, I leave the brochure and this copy.

So if the husband is coming home and he is interested, they can read it, or wife, because we cannot get both of them at the same time.  So they can read it and they can decide it.  If they are interested, there is a phone number.  There is a website.  They can call and they can talk.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So let's go on here to an actual sales call for a moment.  You are an experienced salesman in this area.  Can you just demonstrate for us, as if we were homeowners, what your sales presentation would be at the door?

A.T.:  I mean...

MR. SELZNICK:  Just as if I was a homeowner.  How would your sales pitch come across?

A.T.:  Just put the binder like that - oops, sorry - and just ring the bell or knocking the door, if there is no ring bell.  Hi, my name is A.T.  I am from Summitt Energy Management.

And I just point to my ID, so the customer can see where I came from.

We just came here to offer you a five years' price protection plan for the natural gas and electricity.

And if the customer is, like, a new owner, so because I assume they don't have a bill, so there is no reason to ask them to bring the gas bill or electricity bill.  But if they are, like, living, like, long time, so, you know, Please could you bring your -- would you mind to bring your gas or hydro bill so I just want to make sure you already registered or you are not registered?  That's it.

MR. SELZNICK:  And continue?  What if they asked you questions at that point, perhaps?

A.T.:  If the customer asks any questions, we just answer, provide, because usually they ask more questions.  Could you explain about the program?

So we just put the binder and explain to you about the market price, what we are offering, what is our service, what we are doing and just explain it.  If they are not interested, pretty much they are not interested.  Have a good day.  You can see; you can read it.  

If they are interested and they ask a few questions, we are happy to answer them, and then spend, like, 20 minutes.  We just always ask them -- if they bring the gas bill or electricity bill, we just explain to them with the material in the binder. 

If they don't have it registered, we explain it to them.  That's it.

MR. SELZNICK:  If they were interested, you would then proceed to fill out a registration form?

A.T.:  If they are interested, in the front of the eye of the customer, Okay, ma'am, now I am going to register you five years' protection plan, in the front of the customer eye.  I try to put the information on the registration form, ask them the phone number, in the front of the customer, and fill out the form.

At the end, we are going to tell the customer, You are going to receive a confirmation call two weeks later, so it make it clear so he is going to receive a phone call.  So he is going to expect to receive a phone call, expectation.

And at the end, we ask them, Do you have any questions?  So make it clear.  So hundred percent is clear when we leave.  If they have more questions, it is better to answer personally in front of the door, rather than the customer call the company and ask the question, because I am the person in the front of the customer.  So he can answer my question.  It is much better to answer all of my information, rather than call the customer service.

MR. SELZNICK:  Just to be clear, while you are holding that binder, you are not reading from a script right now?  That is just another page?

A.T.:  No.  This is like registration form.  There's nothing here.

MR. SELZNICK:  You mentioned that you were given a list of homeowners or customers to call upon by your manager and that in your territory, you approached those people, but also other people.  Where would that list be kept in that binder?

A.T.:  I put it in the third page.  Like, there is a, like, plastic page.  I put it always here in the third page. 

So there is a few pages.  So nobody cannot see it.  The only thing it is for me.  Just choose the number of the house.  Like, a third page.  Between that and that one, there is three, four pages of feedback, like newspaper, Toronto Sun, Toronto Star.  The graph of the market price.  Just show the customer.  The gas is a limited source.  One day it is going to be finished, so we are depend on it.  Just like the feedback information, gathering from the news.  Radio.

MR. SELZNICK:  So it is not your practice to show people at the door the list of names?  

A.T.:  No.  There is no point.  

MR. SELZNICK:  How might they see it?  

A.T.:  Because some of them, maybe they are curious, you know.  I work long enough, almost 10 years, I work across Ontario, like small village, remote area.

 Some people are curious, you know, a small... they wanted to know what is your insight.  So I ask something.  You know, they took -- at my binder.  I want to see what is inside, what you fill out.

 Some people are curious. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you're filling –-

 A.T.:  And –-

 MR. SELZNICDK:  Sorry, don't want to interrupt.

 When you are filling in the registration form, how are you standing in relation to the consumer?  Are you standing in front of them or beside them or --

A.T.:  Yeah, face to face. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Can they see into your binder while you are filling it out?

A.T.:  Yes, because I always put it because I want to make them, like, trust, you know, I don't fill anything right.  I just fill out the correct information; first name, last name, address, postal code.

 So I just fill it out, the front, because, you know, I didn't came from how to fool you.  I came here to explain the program, and they see it.

And I give them same copy with same handwriting, because when I take the copy, my copy and their copy, I give them the customer copy.  So make it clear.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  So you can have a seat.  

A.T.:  Sorry.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, let's move on to the specific complaints in the notice of intention.

 So you should have with you -- let's go through the first one for a moment there -- you should have with you a binder that says "witness J.M.(2)" on it, I believe.  

Do you see that one?  Okay.

 And do you have the unredacted version of the registration form to hand the witness as well?  Thanks.  

If you would just take this binder, and if you could turn to tab A of that binder.

Now, Ms. Sinnott is going to hand you something that looks like that, but without the black lines on it, just so you can see what we're talking about, if you wouldn't mind.

What is that form?

A.T.:  This is a registration form.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And is that your handwriting on the registration form?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  So in the line that is the address, that is your handwriting?  

A.T.:  That's right.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And is that your signature on the very bottom? 

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And that is your handwriting, putting in the representation and the ID number?

A.T.:  Yeah.  That is my signature, my full first name, my full last name and my badge ID number. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Going up on the form a little bit, can I say that all of the handwriting, like the hand type, the printing is your printing, and the signature is somebody else's?  You are not the customer there?  

A.T.:  You are talking -- could you repeat, please?

MR. SELZNICK:  Can I take it that all of the printing on the page is from you?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And the signature on the page, that's the customer's signature; it's not your signature.  It is the customer signature?

A.T.:  No.  It is the customer signature. 

MR. SELZNICK:  But you filled it in for the customer; that is safe to say?

A.T.:  All of the fill-out is mine, except the customer signature and the print, the customer.  That's it.

MR. SELZNICK:  And I take it your evidence from your presentation was that you filled this in with the customer?  

A.T.:  Yeah.  In front of the customer.

MR. SELZNICK:  So if you see on the natural gas and electricity, the box is sometimes ticked -- or I can't tell that well on mine, but they're ticked or they're X'd?  Those are your marks on that?  

A.T.:  I always put the -- fill out the whole thing to make it clear in front of the customer.  That is my personal –- fill up the page.  I just make it hundred percent visible.  What is the term, utility name.  And same thing for electricity.

 MR. SELZNICK:  Now, on this form that you have, the Enbridge account number and the utility, the electricity account numbers, aren't filled in?

A.T.:  Because this maybe is a -- is a new -- I mean, new home buyer.  So they don't have a bill up to, like, three months.  I don't know, three, four months.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And do you recall the name of this person?  Don't say the name, but you will see the name on the top line.  Do you recall the name of that person?  Does that person's name ring a bell to you?

A.T.:  You mean it is familiar?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.

A.T.:  Probably.  I don't know.  Yeah.  Because I see a lot of people.  It is back to, like, more than a year ago.  Yeah, probably. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Just to simplify the evidence, even on all four of these, you don't recall any of these people personally?

A.T.:  No. 

MR. SELZNICK:  You couldn't pick them out of a line-up in the room, could you?

A.T.:  No. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And why is that?  

A.T.:  I don't understand.  Could you repeat one more time?

MR. SELZNICK:  Why don't you remember this specific person?

A.T.:  Because I see, like, I personally I see 50, 60 people every day.  So... that's long time.  I mean divided by nine years, 365 days of the...

MR. SELZNICK:  Having said that, does this address -- is this an address in a street or an area that is familiar to you?

A.T.:  Yes.  My area, yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  So this would be, then, someone you would have visited?  

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you made this visit, what other things would you have left with this registration form? 

A.T.:  This registration inside the brochure, and the certificate.  And that's it.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Now, can we please go to in that same binder that you have there, tab G, G as in "George"?

You will see that document is called a "consumer complaint response"?  Do you see that document?  

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, do you see at the bottom of that page, it says "Synopsis"?  That paragraph there?

A.T.:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  And it says:

"Consumer called this morning to complain about the sales agent."

 Can you just read that for a second?

A.T.:  "Consumer called -–"

MR. SELZNICK:  Just read it to yourself.  Just read it to yourself.

A.T.:  The next one?

MR. SELZNICK:  No, just read it for yourself.  I am going to ask you some questions on that.  

A.T.:  Okay.  Okay?

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay?  Now, the consumer here is alleging that you had an Enbridge tag on you.  Do you have an Enbridge tag?  

A.T.:  I don't know.  What is Enbridge tag?  Always Summitt.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you own a tag that says "Enbridge" on it?

A.T.:  I don't know there is an Enbridge tag or no.  I always have Summitt.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this consumer, in the notice of intention, alleges that you said you were a sales agent from the local utility; is that correct?  Are you a sales -

A.T.:  No.  I am from Summitt Energy Management.  Always showing my tag. 

MR. SELZNICK:  I take it that you deny that you said you were a sales agent from the local utility?  

A.T.:  Of course. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And the customer also alleges that you said that you were there to set up the gas account.  

A.T.:  No.  I mean, we are offering the price protection.  It is an offering.  Offering and setup is a different thing.  Offer it means you have a choice.  Setup, it means setup.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this customer alleges that you said that the previous owner had a gas account with Summitt.  Did you say that?  

A.T.:  No.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  The customer also says that you asked them to -- that you asked the customer to sign a document and you didn't explain it.  

A.T.:  Always explain what is going on, because it is my sales.  I have to explain to make it clear what is the point.  I have to make it clear what she sign up, what she is committed to.

 Always explain all of the details, and at the end I ask them:  Do you have any questions?  To make it clear; when I am leaving, he or she does not have any questions.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And would it ever be to your benefit not to be clear about -- 

A.T.:  It is not my benefit, because it is wasting my time, and what is the point?  It is a commission job.  So I have to make sure the customer is understanding and is hundred percent clear, rather than have any questions.

 Husband is coming home, wife is coming home, who is the decision-maker, then cancel it.  So make sure in the right spot, in the right moment, all of the clarities comes from me, not the company, not the Mr. X.  It comes from me, my own word.

MR. SELZNICK:  So my next question is:  When you were -- when you speak to customers, do you show them any graph material, any graphs?

A.T.:  Yes.  We have a graph, like, showing the natural gas price in the past, like, ten, 15 years, how it is just jumping during the long term, just show the customer.

Also, there is a graph in the back of the brochure.  So always show the price of natural gas in the next ten years, how the price is going up; also the price of electricity, too.

MR. SELZNICK:  On this particular complainant, if someone says to you -- if a customer says to you, I am really not interested or I don't have the time to speak to you, what is your reaction?

A.T.:  My personal experience, I say, Have a good day, because there is a lot of people I have to see.  So I don't spend time.  Some agents, they can --

MR. SELZNICK:  I am only interested in your -- 

A.T.:  In my point, I said, Have a good day.  Thank you.  See the next house.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did anyone ever say to you, any one of these people ever say to you, that we're going to discuss here, I am too busy.  I am just going to sign it.  Please go away?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Now, let's look at the next one.

The next binder is J.M.(1) on the front, which is 5.1.3 of the notice of intention.  If you would show him the redacted version, as well?

Can you turn to tab A of that binder, as well?  I may, just for the time purposes, just go a little bit faster here.  And so take a look at the redacted -- unredacted version with the handwriting there.  Maybe I can ask some more directed questions.

That is all of your handwriting, except for the customer signature on that form?

A.T.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Just as with the other case, do you know this person?  Could you identify this person if you saw them?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  But is the address and -- address in your area?

A.T.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you have any reason to doubt this isn't a form that you signed?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  When you left this form, what else did you leave?

A.T.:  The brochure.  This is a copy of the brochure and the price protection certificate.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Again, go to tab G of this particular binder.  That's the consumer complaint response.

Okay.  On page 2, there is this first paragraph here.  Can you just read that one?  And I am going to ask you a question about it.

A.T.:  You mean the first one?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.  It starts with, "Best time to reach:  No preference", and then it continues.  Tell me when you are ready and I have a few questions on that paragraph.

A.T.:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  You will see that this customer alleges that you harassed and coerced them.  Did you offer the customer anything to sign the contract?

A.T.:  I treat this customer like everybody else, same thing.

MR. SELZNICK:  If a customer says no, do you ever keep pushing them until they say yes?

A.T.:  No.  Because I work long enough, if they said no, even if they said they are not interested, I don't even spend a minute to convince them.  I said, Have a good day.  I go to the next one, because a million people live in the house.

MR. SELZNICK:  This witness alleges that you said that -- this customer says that you allege that -- the customer had no choice.

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you ever say that to customers?

A.T.:  No.  When we said we are offering you, "offering" means offering.  You have a choice.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, this customer also says --

A.T.:  I mean, if you put the dictionary, it says offer is a choice.  I am offering, very simple.

MR. SELZNICK:  The next question is:  This customer says that despite your advice that you filled out the form in front of customers, that after the customer signed the form, that is when you filled off the checks and filled in the bullets.  Did you do that before or after?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Go back to tab A for a second.

A.T.:  You mean...

MR. SELZNICK:  Turn to tab A.

A.T.:  A, okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  This customer says you made the ticks here, like the five years at 7.9 cents, after the client signed.

A.T.:  No.  That is not true, no.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Would there be any reason to do that after they signed it?

A.T.:  No, because what is the point?  We have to make sure there is a checkmark of the five years and they can read it, because usually these customer, they can read it before they sign up.  They have to know what is checkmarked, because that is important.  So they have to read it, and then sign up.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this customer says that you never discussed electricity with them.  Now, you said you don't remember this specific customer, but are there circumstances where you would only talk to a customer about gas or electricity?

A.T.:  I always talk about both.  I started, for example, with the gas, and when I finish my presentation with the gas, I go through the electricity, the same presentation for the electricity, and I explain to them.

There is a combo.  This is combo application.  It is, like, both.  It is not single application.  It is a combination of the natural gas and electricity.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this customer says that you said the previous owner had an account with Summitt Energy.

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Does your list that you carry indicate who the prior provider was, if it is a retailer?

A.T.:  You mean the real estate?

MR. SELZNICK:  The list you said of the names of the people, would it say who their -- would it say Summitt Energy or would it say Superior across from the person's name?

A.T.:  No.  There is nothing there, no, only the first and last name of the previous owner.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Let's move to the next one quickly.

The next one is the little binder that says -- the witness is L.M. on the front cover.  This corresponds with -- what is the contract number here?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, I wonder if there is a more direct way to get the witness's response to the consumer complaint.

MR. SELZNICK:  I will be more direct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you can put the suggestions to the witness, rather than have him necessarily read them.  I am not sure that that advances --

MR. SELZNICK:  I will be a little more direct.  Although I should be more open-ended in my question, I will be more direct in my examination.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If that suits your purpose.

MR. SELZNICK:  That's fine.

MR. TUNLEY:  If it is simply a denial of the allegations in the statement of claim and if it speeds you up, Mr. Selznick, you can put the allegations from the -- I mean the notice of intention.  I beg your pardon.

MR. SELZNICK:  I just want to get the witness's answer own impression of the particular point.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you can look at tab A of this one in the unredacted version?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am going to ask this in one big question.  This is all of your handwriting except for the signature of the customer?

A.T.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  You don't recognize the customer in this circumstance either?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  But the address is in your area?

A.T.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Again, with this particular form of notice of registration, you would have given the terms and conditions brochure and the blue certificate?

A.T.:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And if you could go to the tab G again on this binder, I am just going to ask you questions about this particular document, on page 2 of this consumer complaint response.

A.T.:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  This consumer alleges that you didn't have -- they didn't have any choice, and they absolutely have to sign up with Summitt.  Did you not give people choices?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this consumer says they asked if they can continue to get their gas supplied directly through Enbridge, and you said they have no choice.

A.T.:  No.  They always have a choice.  Again, it is offering.  It means choices.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

A.T.:  We are offering.  I mean, they can choose it or not.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, if we can go back to -- I just have to get the number.  This particular file, looking at it, corresponds to item 5.1.4 of the notice of intention.

A.T.:  Sorry, which page?

MR. SELZNICK:  I am just identifying for the record.

Again, this witness says, just to be clear, that you said it was not possible to have gas supplied directly from the utility.  Would you ever say that to someone?

A.T.:  No.  

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Thank you.  

And if we look at the last one, which is number 5.1.5 and the binder is "A.Z.", the witness is A.Z.?

And again, I take it all of the handwriting, other than the customer signature, is yours?  

A.T.:  Yes, sir. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And the -- you don't recognize the customer, but you do recognize the area?  

A.T.:  That's right. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And when you gave this registration form to the customer, you gave it with the terms and conditions brochure and the -- 

A.T.:  That's right. 

MR. SELZNICK:  -- certificate?  Thank you.

If you go to tab G --

A.T.:  Also this customer has an account number, so it means they bring the bill. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Thank you.

If you go to tab G of the same binder, this is a very long complaint, so I will just -- I am not going to ask you to read it.  I'm going to highlight things to you here.  

This customer alleges that you told him that you would give him a cheaper rate than he is currently getting.  Did you say that?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you say that?

A.T.:  No.  That is not true, no. 

MR. SELZNICK:  What do you say about rates?  

A.T.:  We just offering the rate, whatever is in the application.

MR. SELZNICK:  And why is offering a fixed rate beneficial?  

A.T.:  I personally always give the example it is like a mortgage.  So you have choices, go with the fixed or go with the -- right.  Usually 80, 90 percent of the people like fixed mortgage, because they have a fixed budget of income.  So they are not worried about the future, the price is increasing.

So always this comparison come to my presentation.  So this comparison, it looks like the people has a choice to choose their own mortgage, five years' fixed, or go with the market.

Same similarity, I think so.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And this witness said that you did not explain the registration form, the document.  Did you explain the registration form document?

A.T.:  I always explain to them. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Is there any circumstance where you wouldn't explain the registration form?

A.T.:  No. 

MR. SELZNICK:  If a customer said to you:  I'm too busy, would you give them the registration form?  Or would you say, I'll come back later, or I will give you the brochure?

A.T.:  It is better I come back later, because what is the point?  It is wasting my time, wasting my paper.  He is busy, he's not listening to me, so it is better to come back in a convenient time.  He has the time.  His mind is free.  He can listen to me.  Rather than he doesn't listen.  So what is the point?  He is wasting my time, wasting my paper.

MR. SELZNICK:  Let's go on now to what happened in consequence of complaints, these complaints.  All right?

Now, your evidence was that you have these weekly meetings with your team or the group at your manager's office; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yes. 

MR. SELZNICK:  And you said complaints were discussed at those meetings?  

A.T.:  Yes.  At the end of the meeting. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And for these kinds of complaints, these -- what do they tell you to do?  

A.T.:  The point is just make it clear.  When you leave the house, just make it clear they don't have any questions.  So just done your job at the door.  Don't leave it.

Because usually, you see the husband or wife, they are not in the same time, so they are not the decision-maker.  So one of them, they sign up.  Other person is coming later.

So it is better to make it clear, and ask them Do you have any questions, at the end.  If they said no, leave them.  If they said yes, stay as long as their mind is clear.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Do you recall attending -- sorry.

In addition to that, those weekly meetings, you said you had meetings with your sales manager one-on-one?  

A.T.:  Yes.  Yeah.

MR. SELZNICK:  And same type of conversation about complaints during those meetings?  

A.T.:  Yeah. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And do you recall having a sales meeting -- complaint meeting with Summitt Energy in, like, April 2009?  

A.T.:  Yes.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  What went on during that meeting?

A.T.:  It was regarding the same thing, you know, just like complaint.  The same topic.  Make it clear to the customer.  Just -- that's it.  When you are leaving, make sure the customer has no questions at the end.  

So add the phrase:  "Do you have any questions?"  End of sentence.  If they said no, you just leave.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And do you recall being fined, a monetary fine by -- through Summitt Energy for complaints?  

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  How much was that?

A.T.:  $500.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you think it is fair?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And have any complaints -- have you ever been charged for any complaints personally for your sales practices?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  And there has been no finding that any of the sales practices in which you were involved up to today, here, in these binders, have in fact happened?  These are all just allegations, I take it?  

A.T.:  That's right. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  So are you working now for Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  No.  

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And do you feel hard done by, by this fine?  

A.T.:  Yes, of course.  It is not fair at all.  

MR. SELZNICK:  And you are not working for Summitt Energy now.  You are not charged personally.  You have this financial dispute with them over this fine.

Why are you here today?  

A.T.:  I don't know.  It is not my benefit.  Just -- you just called me to come here.  What is the point of I am here?  There is nothing for me.  Nothing benefit.  I am not working with the firm, since last year.  So what is point, wasting my time?  And I just came here.

Today is no benefit. 

MR. SELZNICK:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Yes, if I could ask the panel for a brief indulgence for two minutes, I will be right back.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure. 

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, we will wait.  Thanks.  

I think we will take five minutes and then come back.  Thanks very much.  

--- Recess taken at 10:36 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:42 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Helt.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you.  Good morning, Members of the Panel.  Good morning, sir.

A.T.:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  My name is Maureen Helt.  I am one of the counsel with the compliance team for the Board, and I am going to be asking you some questions with respect to your testimony, as well as the incidents that are referred to in the document called the "Notice of Intention to Make an Order".

Those were paragraphs 5.1.2 and 5.1.5, specifically, for the record.

As you know, I will be calling you either "sir" or "Mr. T.", simply to ensure that your privacy is protected, and I will not be using your full name, and to remind you if you have any recollection of any complainants that we discuss, that you refer to them by their initials.

A.T.:  No problem.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Sir, you have indicated in your evidence that you first commenced being a sales agent in 1999; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  And that was with Direct Energy?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  And did that position involve selling electricity and gas contracts?

A.T.:  First it was gas, natural gas, and then electricity.

MS. HELT:  And how long did you have that position for, approximately?

A.T.:  Three years.

MS. HELT:  And is it your evidence that after that, you commenced employment with Superior Energy?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  So that would be in approximately 2002?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  And did you remain with Superior Energy as a sales agent from 2002 until the time you commenced employment with Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  And you commenced your employment with Summitt Energy in or about December 2006; is that correct?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  And you were employed until September 2009; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  While you were employed with Summitt Energy, you have indicated in your evidence that your employer agency was Vi Va International; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  And how were you recruited by Vi Va International?  How did you first become employed by them and why did you leave Superior Energy?

A.T.:  It was Vi Va International changed from Superior to...

MS. HELT:  So you followed along with the agency?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  Are you still employed by Vi Va International in any capacity?

A.T.:  No.  I am not employed at all.

MS. HELT:  You haven't been employed, since you left Summitt Energy, by a retailer or marketer or sales agency?

A.T.:  I am unemployed since I left Superior -- I mean, when I am not working.

MS. HELT:  Did you leave Summitt Energy voluntarily?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  I am going to ask you some questions, sir, about your training as a sales agent.

A.T.:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  Did you have -- when you started your employment with Summitt Energy, who provided you with training?  Was it Summitt Energy or Vi Va International?

A.T.:  Vi Va International.

MS. HELT:  And in your evidence, sir, I think you have indicated that you had three to four hours of training?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Was that training when you first commenced your employment with them?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Was there any subsequent training to that?

A.T.:  Prior to my experience, I had already have training by Direct Energy and Superior Energy and -- training, so that was enough training for me.

MS. HELT:  So your only formal training when you started with Summitt Energy, through to the time your employment terminated with Summitt Energy, was the initial three to four hours of training in the office; is that correct?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  You have also indicated that the material that was provided to you included a PowerPoint presentation, that you had an instructor, and you were given certain material?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  Were you ever required to take any form of test with respect to your understanding of this material?

A.T.:  Yes.  I think so, yes.  I had the test with Direct Energy, Superior.  Test is usually the same things, with the code of conduct.  That's the test, Ontario Energy Board test.  It is the same procedures for all of the suppliers.

MS. HELT:  So is it your evidence that you did take a test when you were with Direct Energy?

A.T.:  Yes.  Direct Energy, Superior Energy and Summitt Energy, three tests.

MS. HELT:  And when did you take the test with Summitt Energy?

A.T.:  I think few months after.

MS. HELT:  And after you commenced employment?

A.T.:  I think so, yes.

MS. HELT:  And what type of test was it; do you recall?  Was it multiple choice?  Was it written answers?

A.T.:  Yes, same test, multiple choice from Direct and Superior Energy, same test, same procedure, because all of them is the same.

MS. HELT:  And did you pass this test?

A.T.:  Of course.

MS. HELT:  Do you know what your score was?  Do you recollect?

A.T.:  Ninety-eight percent.

MS. HELT:  So you got one wrong, or one or two questions wrong?

A.T.:  I think so, 98, 99 percent.  Almost hundred percent.

MS. HELT:  I note that there is no copy of the test in the record or evidence provided by Summitt Energy, so we can't confirm your score on that.

You say that you were provided with copies of the codes of conduct.  Which codes of conduct are these specifically?

A.T.:  The code of conduct provided by Ontario Energy Board.

MS. HELT:  So there are two codes of conduct - are you aware of that - one dealing specifically with gas marketers and one for electricity retailers?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  So you were provided copies with this.  And you are familiar with the requirements under the code with respect to your --

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  -- activities?

A.T.:  That's right.

MS. HELT:  Does the company, Summitt Energy, or Vi Va International have any internal code of conduct with respect to sales agents' behaviour or conduct when they are performing sales agent activities?

A.T.:  I don't know.

MS. HELT:  You are not aware of any.

Are you aware of any other regulatory requirements that you are required to be familiar with or abide by when performing your sales activities?

A.T.:  Would you repeat one more time?

MS. HELT:  Sure.  And I think that question was a little confusing, so that is my mistake.

Are there any other regulatory requirements that you are aware of, such as codes of conduct or regulations, that you need to be familiar with in order to carry out your door-to-door activities?

A.T.:  Yeah.

MS. HELT:  Can you just let me know what those might be?

A.T.:  Identify yourself.  You have to have the two identification, two logo, beside the badge ID.  So it is two logo, like, shirt or hat.  So it means the people knows what is you.  So you have three logo of the company, ID badge, shirt and the hat.  That is the number one.  It means we are licensed people.

MS. HELT:  And what -- do you know what you are required to leave at each customer's home?

A.T.:  What do you mean?

MS. HELT:  After you make a presentation to a customer -- 

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  -- and you complete a registration form, what documents are you required to provide to the customer when you leave their home?

A.T.:  Copy of the registration inside the brochure, and also copy of that hundred percent price guarantee, price protection, the blue cert -- and behind that I put my name, my first name, my last name, my ID number.  So it is three -- actually, four piece:  brochure, copy, and that one.

MS. HELT:  Do you explain, sir, what the brochure is to the customer when you provide it to them?

A.T.:  Yeah.  That is the terms and conditions.

MS. HELT:  And do you go into any of the specifics of that document?

A.T.:  Yes.  I put the things -- you know, that is the term and condition.  You have to read it, because you're going to expect receive a confirmation call.  So I always make sure the customer aware to receive a confirmation call two weeks later.

So he or she has the time to read all of those fine print.  So I said, You going to have two weeks' time to read all of this material, the fine print, so you are going to receive a phone call two weeks later.  So they are going to expect a phone call.

MS. HELT:  It is your evidence that you always tell them that when you make your sales call?

A.T.:  Of course, because they have to confirm it.  If they don't confirm it, so -- 

MS. HELT:  All right.

A.T.:  -- it is cancelled.  So they have to confirm it.  So I have to make sure they receive a phone call, expectation phone call.

MS. HELT:  Okay, thank you, sir.  If I can just take you back to some questions with respect to the training, are you given any specific training in the field when you are doing your door-to-door training?  What I mean by that is are you given any training while you go out and actually make these sales agent -- or these sales calls at the homes?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  Was there any supervision of any of your sales calls when you first started with Summitt Energy?  

A.T.:  No.  

MS. HELT:  And I take it, then, that there hasn't been any supervision since that time?  

A.T.:  No.  

MS. HELT:  Earlier, you said that you are aware that there is a reaffirmation call process.  What I mean by that is that someone -- you advise the consumer that someone from Summitt Energy will call to confirm the contract.  

Do you understand -- do you advise the consumer that they have the right to get out of a signed contract for 10 days?  

A.T.:  Always check in the -- behind the, you know, brochure, there is a bold line:  Right of cancel.  So always make it line and circle it, so you have the right to cancel.

MS. HELT:  And your evidence is you always advise the customer of that?

A.T.:  I always do it.  The brochure, I give the brochure to customer.  There is a bold line.  It says: Right to cancel.  So I will make it line over there.  And I give it to customer.

 So they have a right to cancel, two weeks.  Also they have a right to cancel at the confirmation call.  So they have two times to cancel, to get rid of.  

MS. HELT:  Are you aware, sir, of any of the main reasons why customers may cancel during the reaffirmation call?

A.T.:  I do my best to provide the information.  

MS. HELT:  But do you have -- at your weekly meetings that you have indicated you have and you discuss complaints at the end of those meetings; I believe that was your evidence -- is it ever discussed why consumers may cancel at the reaffirmation call?

A.T.:  Yes.  Because you cannot -- it is a couple, right?  You go to the door.  You cannot find the husband and wife in the same time.  So sometimes wife sign up and husband is come later at night, and you don't know who is the decision-maker.

 So it is very rare to find both persons at the same time. So sometimes one of them, they come late night and they are this angry with other partner, and they cancel it.

 So you have to find both of them, maybe in the weekend.  Saturday or Sunday both are home.  

MS. HELT:  When you go out to make your sales calls, sir, is there a crew of sales agents who go out and -- to a certain neighbourhood?

A.T.:  Yes.  Of course. 

MS. HELT:  And how many sales agents would be in that crew?

 A.T.:  I have no idea, because I go by myself.  

MS. HELT:  So you don't actually go out with a team of --

A.T.:  No. 

MS. HELT:  -- other sales agents?

A.T.:  No. 

MS. HELT:  Is there a sales manager or sales contractor who provides you with an area to go out and make your sales?

A.T.:  Yes.  

MS. HELT:  I believe your evidence earlier -- excuse me, this morning was that you are provided with a list of MLS new homeowners by the Vi Va International; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  You are provided with that list prior to going out into a neighbourhood that is provided -- that is designated to you by the sales agents?

A.T.:  My territory, yes.  

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Sir, I wasn't clear on your evidence previously, when Mr. Selznick was asking you about that list and asking what information was on that list, can you confirm with me, or not confirm, that on the list of the -- the MLS list, there is also the last name, first and last name of the previous owners of the residence; is that correct?

A.T.:  There is a first name, last name, address, postal code, zoning area, you know, MLS, like CO 4, W 4, and also the closing date.  

MS. HELT:  So it has the closing date when the real estate transaction was completed, and it would have also the new homeowner's information and the previous owner's information; is that correct?

A.T.:  Not the new owner.  It is the previous owner information.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  

A.T.:  You don't know who is the new owner.  That is the reason you ask the information of the new owner.  Because that list is, like, whatever they sold it.  You don't know the new owner.

MS. HELT:  Do you yourself monitor new -- or advertisements for new homes, in addition to being provided with that MLS listing?  

A.T.:  No.  

MS. HELT:  And how frequently would it be that you go to new homeowners, versus just individuals who have been residing in a residence for a period of time?

A.T.:  It is a combination of the both, door-to-door, and the list.

MS. HELT:  Would it be fair to say, sir, that the majority of the consumers whose homes you do visit are new homeowners?

 A.T.:  Again, it is a combination of both.  Real estate is, like, difference.  Between June, July, August, September is, like, more people are moving, before September.

 In the wintertime, there is no moving people.  Because it started from June, July, August, like summertime.

 So it is like combination of both.  

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you, sir.  

I would like to ask you a few questions with respect to how you would be compensated.  Was it on a commission basis? 

A.T.:  Yes. 

MS. HELT:  Is it per registration form that is completed?

 A.T.:  Yes. 

MS. HELT:  Would it be dependent upon whether or not the transaction was reaffirmed or not?  

A.T.:  Yes.  It has to be reaffirmed. 

MS. HELT:  So would you be provided any compensation, first, after the sales contract, the registration form is signed, and then you would receive a second part, let's say, of your compensation after the reaffirmation call?  

A.T.:  No.  The full thing is after.  

MS. HELT:  It would have to be both?  

A.T.:  After two weeks, you know, everything is completed.  So there is no, like, portion of that, this one or portion that, no. 

MS. HELT:  Would it make a difference, sir, if it was a contract for gas, a contract for electricity or a contract for both?

A.T.:  Usually, it is both, because it is a combo application.

MS. HELT:  But your compensation, sir, would that vary depending on whether or not you had successfully -- 

A.T.:  Yes.  Difference, you know, whether it's a gas confirmation, it goes through, so they pay you gas.

 If it is electricity go through, they pay you electricity.

MS. HELT:  Can you advise me, sir, what you would be paid for these contracts, for successful completion of a contract?

A.T.:  The difference, you know.  

MS. HELT:  But for a gas contract, while you were with Summitt Energy, can you tell me what commission you received?

A.T.:  I don't remember exactly.  It was like a year ago, but, like -- I don't know, base, 60, $70, something like that.  Base.  I mean base.  But depends -- 

MS. HELT:  That's fine.  To the best of your recollection, sir.

A.T.:  I don't know, 60, 70. 

MS. HELT:  And for an electricity contract?  

A.T.:  I think 45, something like that.  I don't remember exactly.  

MS. HELT:  And if you successfully completed both, then, it would be somewhere around 105, let's say, between 100 and $110; would that be fair to say?

A.T.:  Yeah, something like that.  Again, it is a base, but depends what is your level, new agent or manager.  There is something difference, level, override.  

MS. HELT:  So the more consumers that you sign up, then, the more you would get paid?  

A.T.:  Yes.  But again, this is go to the Vi Va.  I don't know how much it is, like, from Summitt.  This is go through to Vi Va.

MS. HELT:  I'm sorry, what would go through -- 

A.T.:  It goes through Vi Va International. 

MS. HELT:  That's right.  But your compensation, sir, would be -- 

A.T.:  Again, I don't know about the general compensation, but mine is like that. 

MS. HELT:  Seventy dollars, approximately, for gas?

A.T.:  I don't know other people how much they -- 

MS. HELT:  No, that's fine.  I am just trying to find out from you. 

A.T.:  That is -- as long as I know it, is mine was like that.  But I don't know what other people were making. 

MS. HELT:  That's fine.  So would you agree with me, sir, that you have a financial incentive, obviously, to sign up as many people as you can?  Would that be correct?  

A.T.:  No.  I'm going with the quality, not quantity.  I am a quality person.  Rather than to sign up people.  Few good deal is better than many.  

MS. HELT:  But when you were employed with Summitt Energy, were you -- was that your only job at the time, or was it a part-time job?

A.T.:  Yeah. 

MS. HELT:  So you were making your living through what you earned with Summitt Energy, and that was your only source of income at the time?

A.T.:  That's right. 

MS. HELT:  So it would be beneficial to you financially to sign up as many consumers as possible?  

A.T.:  It is not as many as the quality.  Like two, three, hundred percent clear is better than, five, six.  It is the quality. 

MS. HELT:  All right, sir.  

A.T.:  Because what's the point?  You register, they cancel it.

MS. HELT:  Are there any quotas set by your employer regarding the number of sign-ups you should aim to achieve over a period of time?  

A.T.:  What you said?  Could you repeat?  

MS. HELT:  Were you advised by your employer or by Vi Va, by Vi Va International, that you should aim to have 20, 20 contracts, successful contracts in a month or a week?

A.T.:  Actually, the advice was write the quality deal, not many deal.

MS. HELT:  So -- 

A.T.:  You're wasting time, wasting paper, wasting headache.  It is the quality number is better than quantity number.

MS. HELT:  So your evidence is that it is better to have one or two quality contracts than ten that are not quality?

A.T.:  That's my personal advice.

MS. HELT:  How many people would you speak to on a month?  How many homes would you visit, or on a week?

A.T.:  Again, depends.

MS. HELT:  On average, to the best of your recollection.

A.T.:  I personally, for the past two years, I mean, 2007 to 2009, maximum, like, 25 house, 30, in a day.

MS. HELT:  Sorry?

A.T.:  Twenty-five, 30 a day.

MS. HELT:  Twenty-five, 30 a day.  And how many of those would be --

A.T.:  Average, I mean.  

MS. HELT:  Yes. 

A.T.:  Maybe Saturday like 40.  But, average, seven days a week, like, 20, 25 a day.

MS. HELT:  And of those 25 to 30, on average - 25 to 30 per day - how many would be considered successful contracts that you would be paid a commission for?

A.T.:  Because out of 25, you only see five or six people, because nobody is home. 

MS. HELT:  Oh, I see.  So you would visit five or six people?

A.T.:  I am saying to you, like, five or six, because nobody is home and you go to the next one.

MS. HELT:  So of those five or six that you visit in a day, that would be approximately --

A.T.:  Maybe one.

MS. HELT:  But on average?

A.T.:  Average, one.

MS. HELT:  You visit one customer a day on average?

A.T.:  I mean registration.

MS. HELT:  Oh, you would have one successful registration?

A.T.:  Yes, yes.

MS. HELT:  Would that be -- okay, I'm sorry.  You have indicated that you work six or seven days a week?

A.T.:  Yes.  

Ms. HELT:  So that would be six or seven contracts that you signed in a week?

A.T.:  Combo, it is like 14:  Six, seven gas; six, seven electric.  One application is both.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Approximately 14 in a week?

A.T.:  Yes.  It is quality number for me.

MS. HELT:  And is there any deduction from your commission or the pay that you received if the contract with Summitt is cancelled after the reaffirmation?

A.T.:  If they cancel, they don't give you commission.  What's the deduction?  What do you mean?

MS. HELT:  Well, when is it that you receive your commission?  You have indicated that you need to have both the registration form signed and there has to be a successful or valid reaffirmation call.  Are you given your commission after that?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  When are you paid your commission?

A.T.:  After the confirmation telephone call, so when the customer confirmation, about three weeks.  It depends.  If they have a gas account, gas account is much faster, because they fund it.  If they don't have a gas account, maybe it is two months, sometimes two months, because they have the track of the gas account number with Enbridge.  So it depends.

MS. HELT:  Okay, all right.  But it is your  evidence -- and I want to make sure you understand what I am saying as well.  But if a customer or if Summitt Energy cancels a contract --

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  -- sometime after the reaffirmation call, let's say two or three months --

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  -- for any reason, is there any deduction to what -- 

A.T.:  Yes, they deduct the commission.  Whatever they pay me, they take it off.

MS. HELT:  So they will take it off your next pay, then?

A.T.:  If they give it to me, yes.  If they give it to me, they take it off, because it is cancelled.

MS. HELT:  Okay, thank you.  I have some questions now with respect to the complaint process that was employed by Vi Va International or Summitt.

When a complaint is made to Summitt Energy about your conduct -- well, first of all, are you aware of any complaints that were made to Summitt Energy about your conduct while you were employed with Summitt?

A.T.:  When I started with Summitt, you mean?

MS. HELT:  Throughout the time that you were employed with Summitt.  So the period 2006 until you left Summitt in 2009, were there complaints about your conduct?

A.T.:  Yes.  Yes.  Sometimes, yeah.  Once, yeah, I think.

MS. HELT:  Who would speak to you about this complaint?

A.T.:  Again, the office manager of Vi Va.

MS. HELT:  And would they provide you with copies of the complaints?

A.T.:  Copy, yes.  I think so, yes.

MS. HELT:  You indicated, sir, in your earlier testimony that there was one occasion when you received a monetary fine?

A.T.:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  Do you recall what that was in relation to?

A.T.:  I don't know.  Actually, I didn't see in the office the paper or the fine, but they just fined me $500.

MS. HELT:  Did they provide you with any specific --

A.T.:  They didn't provide me any piece of paper.  They just -- verbally, they said fine, and they deduct from my pay cheque $500.

MS. HELT:  Did you ask them why they were deducting the $500?

A.T.:  I ask them why from the Vi Va International few times, because if somebody fine you, even the police officer, they have to give you the piece of paper why, the reason.

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

A.T.:  And everybody give you ticket, they have to, but they didn't provide me any written information.  So I asked Vi Va a few times; they didn't give it to me.  They just said, You charged $500, and deduct it from my pay cheque.

MS. HELT:  So they didn't give you any documentation.

Did they say anything to you in a conversation  about -- that it related to a specific complaint or a series of complaints?

A.T.:  No.  They said it is a complaint charge.  That's it.

MS. HELT:  And, again, there is no documentation with respect to a complaint charge?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  Were you familiar with any formal complaints policy that was in place with Vi Va International?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  Did you ever receive any regular assessment of the number of complaints received by Vi Va International about your conduct, if there were in fact any such complaints?

A.T.:  You mean training?

MS. HELT:  Well, would they tell you -- you know, call you into a meeting, for example, and say, Mr. T., this month there have been two complaints.  Let's talk about it.

A.T.:  Yes.  I have a face-to-face conversation with the office manager, and I went once in the head office for this kind of conversation.

MS. HELT:  And when you say "head office", that is the Summitt Energy head office?

A.T.:  Yes.  I mean head office like Summitt Energy.

MS. HELT:  And when you did attend at the head office, who was present on behalf of Summitt Energy?  You don't have to say the name, but was it a Summitt Energy officer or -- 

A.T.:  Yes, complaints department.  I don't know.

MS. HELT:  Someone from the complaints department?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  What would they discuss with you?

A.T.:  It was me and the Vi Va office manager and that person about, like, code of conduct, you know, just make it clear when you leave the door and add the line, Do you have any questions?  That basically top of this meeting.  So make it clear customer has no questions.

MS. HELT:  So would it be fair to say, then, that the primary purpose of that meeting was to ensure that you made it clear -- 

A.T.:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  -- whenever you attended at a consumer's home that they could ask questions if they didn't understand?

A.T.:  Yes.  Just make it clear.

MS. HELT:  Was there anything further that they --

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  -- indicated to you that you should or should not be doing when you attend at the door, other than that?

A.T.:  No.  That was it.  That basically was the point:   Make it clear so they have no question.

MS. HELT:  Just to follow along with respect to the issue of retraining, I would like to refer you, sir, to a few documents that were put to you earlier.

Do you have the binders for -- the complainant witness binders for J.M.(2) available in front of you?  These were the binders that were put to you by Mr. Selznick.

A.T.:  You mean this one?

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Does it at the front of it say "J.M.(2)"?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  It would have agent A.T., witness J.M.(2).

A.T.:  Yes, J.M.(2).

MS. HELT:  If you could please turn to tab G?  On that first page, Mr. Selznick asked you to refer to the synopsis on the bottom of the page about the complaint.

A.T.:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  And you have indicated that you have read that complaint.  You did not agree with certain aspects of that complaint.

I would like to turn your attention to page 2 of that document.  And you will note approximately half way down -- and this is a document, sir, that is not one that you have necessarily seen before, but, for the record, I would just like to point out that it does indicate about half way down that Summitt Energy has forwarded the complaint to the sales agent manager for review and retraining processes.

Do you remember having any retraining with respect to this specific complaint?

A.T.:  You mean for this complaint?  I don't know what... I don't know who is the name of the -- I don't know who is this complaint about that.  About --

MS. HELT:  All right.  So --

A.T.:  There is no name of that.

MS. HELT:  So you don't have any recollection, then, if you did receive –

 A.T.:  I don't have --

 MS. HELT:  -- if you did receive retraining with respect to this specific complaint?

A.T.:  I told you, I have a face-to-face meeting with my office manager regarding of the specific complaint.  But I don't remember.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to be clear and fair to the witness, are you looking at the blue-faced binder, the confidential binder?

 No --

 MR. SELZNICK:  The yellow one.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You should look at the blue binder, the confidential binder.

MS. SINNOTT:  We weren't given one of those here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Are you indicating, then, that so he has a recollection of the name of the witness?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The name, yes.

MS. HELT:  Perhaps what I can do is -- you have referred to Mr. Selznick the registration forms, the unredacted versions of the registration form?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

The name has already been put to the witness.

A.T.:  Oh, yes, see, that's the reason I have to... Okay.  What is the page number?  Sorry.

MS. HELT:  It was at tab G of the binder.

A.T.:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  There is a synopsis of a complaint --

A.T.:  Mm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  -- that Mr. Selznick earlier asked you to review.

And my question to you was:  Do you recall having a meeting with your sales agent manager, and having any retraining with respect to this complaint?

A.T.:  I don't remember exactly.

MS. HELT:  All right.

A.T.:  But I remember we have a face-to-face meeting regarding of the complaint.  But this particular, I don't remember.

MS. HELT:  All right.  For the purpose of the record, I would just like to indicate that this refers to a complaint of J.M.(2).  The incident was February 28th, 2009.  The complaint was made March 18th, 2009.  And the retraining -- or the complaint was forwarded to the sales agent on April 8th, 2009.

If I can then ask you -- and I will try to go through these relatively quickly for the Panel -- if you would turn to the complainant witness binder for J.M.(1), and if I could also ask that you be provided with the copy of the registration form, which has -- the unredacted version, which has the complainant name on it?

MR. SELZNICK:  J.M.(1)?

MS. HELT:  J.M,(1), correct.

A.T.:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  Sir, if you could please turn to tab G?

A.T.:  Mm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  There is a -- on the second page, there is a paragraph which outlines the complaint.  Again, I believe you have reviewed this with Mr. Selznick; is that correct, that you have reviewed it?

A.T.:  Yes, yes.

MS. HELT:  And if you turn to the next page, at the top of the page, there is -- the first box says that:

"Summitt Energy sent this complaint to the sales agent manager and conducted a meeting with the manager to discuss the details of the complaint on July 22nd.  The sales agent would undergo retraining with management of Summitt Energy."

Do you recall receiving any retraining with respect to this complaint?

A.T.:  Yes.  I think so for this one.  We just change my presentation.  That's, I told you, make it clear at the end of the conversation.  I think so, yes.

MS. HELT:  And you are saying, your evidence, sir, is that the -- what was stressed to you at that meeting was to make it clear at the end of your presentation --

A.T.:  That's --

MS. HELT:  -- that they understood what the contract was; is that correct?

A.T.:  That's right.  Just add the line:  Do you have any questions?

MS. HELT:  Was there ever any paperwork involved with the retraining?  Were you required to do any recertification, or --

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  -- do any further testing in any way?

A.T.:  No.  Usually, generally was the presentation, when you are at the door, just make it the presentation.

MS. HELT:  So just for the record, I would like to reflect that this complaint, the incident occurred on June 28th, 2009.  The complaint was made July 2nd, 2009.  And as indicated on this form at tab G of the witness binder, the retraining or the meeting with the manager was July 22nd, 2009.

If you can now please turn to the binder, witness A.Z., also at tab G, on the second page of this tab, you will see a one-page typed letter, May 19th, 2009.  It is a letter of complaint that was provided to Summitt Energy.

Do you recall ever seeing a copy of this complaint, sir?

A.T.:  No, I didn't see a copy of this.

MS. HELT:  It was never shown to you?

A.T.:  No.

MS. HELT:  And if you turn to the last --

A.T.:  This is full complaint page?

MS. HELT:  It is that page, and then it goes over to the top of the next page.

A.T.:  No.  I don't see this whole, like, full page, no.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And if you turn to the last page of that tab, sir, in the top right hand column, it indicates that:

"Summitt Energy forwarded the complaint to the sales agent manager for review and retraining purposes."

Do you recall any retraining with respect to this complaint?

A.T.:  Sorry, which page is that?

MS. HELT:  Oh, the very last page, at tab G.  It simply -- I want to make sure you do have the right page.  The last page, it just says:

"Summitt Energy forwarded the complaint to the sales agent manager for review and retraining purposes."

A.T.:  Okay.  So --

MS. HELT:  My question is simply:  Do you recall having any review with your manager about this specific complaint?

A.T.:  Again, it was, like, face-to-face meeting with the office manager about the complaint.  But I don't remember about specific -- it is back to, like, long time ago.

MS. HELT:  Okay.

A.T.:  But there was a specific face-to-face verbal confirmation.

 MR. HELT:  You had a meeting that you –-

 A.T.:  He didn't show me the full page.  It was, like, using the computer, his laptop, he look at the complaints and he just told me about the nature of the complaint, and face-to-face.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

A.T.:  So I don't see any official paper, because it was in his laptop and he just look at his laptop.  I don't know.

MS. HELT:  All right.  That's fine.  Thank you.

Just for the purpose of the record again --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think we need that.

 MS. HELT:  No?

 MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it is in the complaint.  I don't think we need to recite that.

MS. HELT:  All right.

 Sir, just one last binder to refer to, please, for witness L.M., again at tab G.

A.T.:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  The second page.  There is another -- or, there is a complaint that is noted on -- a synopsis of that complaint on the second page.

 Again, my question to you is:  Do you recall this complaint, being informed of this complaint?

A.T.:  Again, I told you I don't remember exactly a specific date.  That was my same answer.

 MS. HELT:  All right.

 A.T.:  It was face-to-face, verbal presentation with my office manager, but I don't see any paper or something.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  So if you had retraining with respect to that complaint, which you can't recall specifically, it would be the same as the other complaints you have referred to.  You would have a meeting with your manager?

A.T.:  Face-to-face.

MS. HELT:  It would be with respect to making sure the customer understood the contract?

A.T.:  It was verbal, talking with the office manager, and he just:  Make sure that is clear.  That's it.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

A.T.:  No problem.

MS. HELT:  I would just like to ask you a couple of questions now with respect to those specific complaints.

I appreciate your evidence has been that you don't recall the specific complaints, but Mr. Selznick has put to you that the evidence of some of the witnesses, specifically J.M.(2), indicated that you said you were from the local gas company, and that it was her evidence that you had to -- that she had to sign in order to continue receiving gas.

And your evidence was that you would never say that; is that correct?  

A.T.:  Of course, yeah.

MS. HELT:  And the evidence of A.Z. was that you had to sign right now to get a good deal, and if you did, that you -- that he would receive gas for 38 cents instead of 42 cents.  Do you recall saying that?

A.T.:  I never mention, no.  Always black and white.

MS. HELT:  And then there has been the evidence of J.M.(1), who indicated that you had said the purpose of your visit was to set up a gas account, and you had to -- that she had to -- he had to sign, I'm sorry, to continue receiving gas.

Again, your evidence is that you did not say that?

A.T.:  I told you when I said I am offering something, offering is a matter of choices.  Set up, it means you have to do it.  I never said set up.  I always said offering.  We are here to offering you price protection.

MS. HELT:  And, sir, the evidence, also, with respect to the complaint of L.M., was that he said that you informed him that he had to sign for the service of gas supply.

Again, your evidence is that you would not have said that?

A.T.:  Of course not.

MS. HELT:  So there are four witnesses whose contracts were signed between the time February 28th, 2009 and July 23rd, 2009 who have indicated that it was their evidence that you informed them that they had to sign to get their gas supplied.  

Why would you think that four people in a span of six months would say that?

A.T.:  You see like 30, 40 people a day.  So some of them, they just complain.  So what's the point?  My area is more Canadian area.  They are not, like, immigrants.  They understand everything.  If you look at the last name, it is hundred percent their first language is English.  I am not working in Brampton or Mississauga.  I work in the heart of Toronto.  

All of these complaints Canadian.  So they know what is going on and they are not like first time home buyers.  They are like second owner.  They know who is Enbridge.  They know who is Toronto Hydro.  So they are not immigrants.  They're hundred percent Canadian.  Their first language is English.  If you look at their last name, you see it.

MS. HELT:  So your evidence is that they must have misunderstood, then, what --

A.T.:  My area is, like, they understand very well.  Maybe they just want to excuse it.  So they are not immigrants.  I am not working Brampton or Mississauga.  I'm working the heart of the Toronto, hundred percent.

MS. HELT:  Thank you, sir.

A.T.:  You're welcome.

MS. HELT:  If I can just have a moment?

I have no further questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Re-direct, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I only have a question or two.
Re-Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Just to be clear, I think your evidence was originally that after the original training, you did get ongoing training in these weekly meetings with your manager, and periodically by Summitt, every couple of months or something.  

I just want to make sure from Mrs. Helt -- Ms. Helt's comments that that is still your evidence, that you had this ongoing training in weekly meetings and these visits from Summitt on a periodic basis?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this fine -- just to be clear, this fine was levied by Vi Va against you, and they told you that Summitt enforced it; is that correct?

A.T.:  Yeah, that's Vi Va, because my pay cheque is come from Vi Va.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.

A.T.:  Vi Va charge me $500, and I said, Where they came from?  They said from Summitt.  But I don't receive any paper.

MR. SELZNICK:  My next question -- and this is the last question.  My next question is:  You have used this phrase, and I appreciate it is hard to recite every little thing that happens in a meeting, but you said the gist of the meetings on your retraining, whenever it was done, it was, at the end of the day, to make it clearer.

So is it correct that to make it clearer is to better explain the price protection program?  Is that what you said, make it clearer?  Is that what it means?

MR. TUNLEY:  This is really not proper --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am going to permit the question.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- reply examination.

A.T.:  Make it clear, it means they understand everything.  When you leave the door, they don't have any questions in their mind.  So the last line is, Do you have any questions?  So always ask the customer, Do you have any question?  If they said no, Have a good day.  Bye.  If they say yes, I am going to stay here as long as they understand what was going on about the program and the protection, because it is my sales.  It is my job.  I don't want to waste my time for nothing.

MR. SELZNICK:  Those are my questions.  And just for a point of order, I took the Board's direction I could be more direct on these points to save time.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any questions from Board Staff?

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Chair, we do have a few questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. T., I am Patrick Duffy and I am the lawyer for the Board.  We have a few clarification questions.

You mentioned that you have a list that was given to you from MLS that lists all of the recent sales transactions and it includes the names of the previous owners?

A.T.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. DUFFY:  Can you tell us what the purpose was of having the previous owners' names listed on there?

A.T.:  I have no idea.

MR. DUFFY:  How did you use that?

A.T.:  They just provide the list.  The only thing I used it, just visiting the address.  That's it.

MR. DUFFY:  You spoke with Ms. Helt about what you termed your base compensation, and you gave us a number of details about that.

While you worked for Summitt, were there opportunities to own -- to earn any bonus compensation?

A.T.:  Yes, of course.  There is a bonus.  There is an override.  If you're field manager, you get override from other agent.  There is a different level.  It is a base commission.  That is -- I told you.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry.  Maybe I just want to be quite clear on this.  How do you earn that bonus compensation?  Was it based on a certain sales quota or target?

A.T.:  Again, if you are manager, you have agents.  You get override from those agents.

MR. DUFFY:  I see.  So if you have agents -- 

A.T.:  Agent override.  For example, you are field manager, you have, like, five agents, so you put them on the field.  So from each agent and each sale, you get override.

MR. DUFFY:  Did you ever have any agents working for you?

A.T.:  No.  I work by myself.  I didn't have any agents.

MR. DUFFY:  You mentioned that you were -- had a face-to-face meeting with Summitt in their office.  Did that happen more than once?

A.T.:  You mean face to face with head office?  You mean the Summitt?

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.

A.T.:  It just happened once.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  And that was the meeting that happened in July of 2009?

A.T.:  That's right.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That's all of Board Staff's questions.

A.T.:  Not a problem.
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  I have just a few questions.  You spoke about the verbal face-to-face with your office manager when there were some complaints.

How long would you say that discussion lasted about the complaint?

A.T.:  Like, one hour -- 45 minutes, one hour, something like that.

MS. HARE:  And could you just clarify for me, that $500 monetary fine from Summitt, when did that occur?

A.T.:  It happened last year, like September.  Like, last year.

MS. HARE:  September 2009?

A.T.:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Shortly before you left or at the time that you were leaving?

A.T.:  I just left, like, October, like, one month before I left.  That was the reason -- another reason I just left.  So I left voluntarily.  That was one of the reasons.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

A.T.:  No problem.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just very briefly, Mr. T.

You worked a lot alone.  It sounds like you worked alone a good deal?

A.T.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did you work even notionally as part of sort of -- a team of agents go out into a given area.  Were you part of that sort of thing from time to time?

A.T.:  When I beginning work in this industry, it was like field trip.  It was like across Ontario, like go to a field trip.  Over the past couple years, I prefer to work by myself.  So I didn't go with anybody.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Were you aware of any fellow sales agents, people who were doing exactly the same thing that you were doing, who ceased their engagement with Vi Va International and with Summitt?  Were you aware of any of those who stopped working for Vi Va International and Summitt?

A.T.:  I don't know.  I don't see Vi Va International for, like, few months, except I go get my T4, my tax.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There was an answer that we received yesterday from a witness to the effect that if somebody wanted to stick around, they would be very diligent in their sales activity, they would be good sales agents, and if -- they wanted to stay in the engagement of the company.  Were you aware of any agents who were asked to leave the engagement of the company because they weren't selling?

A.T.:  I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You have no idea?

A.T.:  I just go there, submit my bill.  That's work.  I don't have any communication with anybody.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  Thank you very much.  This is just a matter of interest.  As part of your compensation, did you receive discounts on any of the products that the company was offering?

A.T.:  No, nothing offered to me.  What kind of product the company offered to me?  Nothing, no.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So were you offered the electricity plan, for example?

A.T.:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did you take up the electricity plan, the price protection plan?

A.T.:  For who?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  From Summitt.

A.T.:  You mean the registration?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  Did you register in your own right for yourself?

A.T.:  For myself?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

A.T.:  No.  I never register myself, no.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there any particular reason for that?

A.T.:  No.  Because I don't have a gas -- electricity or gas.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are not responsible for your electricity or gas charges?

A.T.:  No.  I don't pay gas or electricity.  You mean under my name?  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

A.T.:  Under my parents' name, actually.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon?

A.T.:  It is under my parents' name, but I don't register myself.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are your parents registered?

A.T.:  I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Anything arising?

We will take our -- we will take a 15-minute break.

We are going to finish the next witness before we take our lunch break, and we are going to finish the other two witnesses today or tomorrow.  That is, we will stay until they are done.

MR. SELZNICK:  Just on that matter, so long as we know the parameters, I am quite prepared to ask more directed questions.  I just don't want to offend my friend.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is a good expediency.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me be clear, I don't mind it in the direct exam because there is an opportunity to cross.  I am more sensitive when it is in re-exam.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One of the really exemplary things is the behaviour of counsel in this case has really been exemplary, I think.  So we will -- we have, I think, a good relationship here, and I am counting on everyone to meet the standard and to kind of move these things along with a reasonable expedition.

Thank you very much.  So we will break for 15 minutes and we will have the next witness.  Thank you.

Thank you very much, sir.

A.T.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  We really appreciate you coming down.

A.T.:  No problem.  I appreciate it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

A.T.:  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will come back in 15 minutes.

[Witness withdraws.]


--- Recess taken at 11:30 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:50 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.
M.G., AFFIRMED

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning, sir.

M.G.:  Good morning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Beitchman will have some questions for you.  Compliance staff, Mr. Tunley, may have some questions for you.  Board Staff may have some questions for you, and even the Panel may have some questions for you.  If you are ever uncertain about how to proceed or whether to answer a question, ask Mr. Beitchman and you can also ask me.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

M.G.:  Thank you.
Examination by Mr. Beitchman:

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Good morning, Members of the Panel.

The witness M.G. is here to speak to notice of intention, and specifically point number 1, point number 1.1, 1.3, 1.4, 1.7 and 1.8.

Mr. G., thank you for coming.  You will notice I am referring to you by your initial and not your full name.  That is for privacy reasons.  And if we're referring to any of the complainants or other people, we may be referring to them, as well, by their initials.  And if you are referring to anyone else, I would ask you to refer to them by their initials or say, My manager or supervisor, or something like that.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

So I understand that for a period of time you were selling energy contracts on behalf of Summitt Energy; is that correct?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  What was that period of time?

M.G.:  It's from the beginning of November 2008 until, I think it is end of February of 2010.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And who was your employer at that time?

M.G.:  That would be Vi Va Marketing, who is the, I guess, contractor for the Summitt.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I see.  Thank you.

And I would like to talk about when you started working with Vi Va in November 2008.  Can you tell me about the training that you received before you went out selling energy contracts?

M.G.:  Well, basically, it is first couple of days.  It was in-class training, approximately, I would say, about three, three-and-a-half hours each day.  And in the end of those, you have to take a written test.  And after that, you are supposed to get the badge and get to the field with the -- like, field manager for about a week, week and a half, as long as it takes basically for you to feel kind of comfortable and do the right presentation and everything.

So basically for about a week, you are listening the manager, how they are doing, and, after that, you are trying kind of on your own, so he is listening basically.  And as soon as they feel you are ready, they will send you to the field on your own.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you mentioned there is an in-class component to the training.  I would like to focus on that.

Can you tell me about what kind of subjects were discussed in the in-class training?

M.G.:  Well, basically, it is -- well, from the beginning, like, it is basically who is Summitt, what they are doing, like, what is the energy, what is the -- like, how it works in Ontario, basically knowledgeable kind of stuff.

And I believe after that, it is like what to do, what not to do at the door, like, what -- basically working on the presentation, but not misleading.  Like, it is one of those things, basically what to do or not to do at the door.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  So you have a number of binders in front of you, and I would ask you to turn -- maybe Ms. Sinnott, my colleague, can give you some assistance with the binders.

M.G.:  They're huge.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  We are looking specifically at the Summitt Energy compliance and regulatory materials binder.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I would ask you to turn up tab 2A, please.

M.G.:  That is independent contractor compliance training?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  That's right.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Does this look familiar at all to you?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you tell me why it is familiar to you?

M.G.:  It has been presented on first, I think, day of training, which explains like, again, who is the Summitt, like what -- again, there's explanation, like, who is OEB, who is the gas companies, like, how delivery works, how the registration works.  Like, it is basically all of the explanation in those binders, I would say.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you were shown this presentation in your training?

M.G.:  Yes.  At the training we did go through that, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you.

If I could ask you to turn to tab 4A of the same binder.

M.G.:  I might get lost in this binder.  Hold on a second.  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Sinnott should feel free to assist.

M.G.:  Four.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  4A, code of conduct for gas marketers.

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is this familiar at all?  Is this a document that you may have seen before?

M.G.:  It looks familiar, but I am not saying that is exactly -- no, I think it is.  Yes, it has been shown at the training.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you, sir.

M.G.:  No problem.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So I would like to talk about -- in your training, you mentioned that you got some presentation training?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And I would like to talk about that a little bit.  Maybe you could explain to me what the training was for the presentation.

M.G.:  For the presentation, basically you are supposed to -- um..., like, should I show the presentation at the door or just explain how it has been told?  Like... I'm sorry.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  For now, my question is:  In the in-course training that you got, maybe you can describe for me what they told you about the presentation, about what you were to do or not to do.

M.G.:  Okay.  You have to clearly specify that you are from the Summitt, explain to the customer what kind of contracts we have, what kind of products we have, and for how long is the contract and what is their options to get the -- basically, how to get the registration.  That is pretty much it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So when you were learning about how to give the presentation, they had a number of documents that they would show you, as well, like the sales kit?

M.G.:  Yes, it is.  It's some points of sale, like some printouts, like, for some newsletters.  Like, it's -- we usually carry in the binder with all of the sales material.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Sure.  Can I ask you to turn up the Summitt Energy sales kit binder that you have in front of you?

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If you can turn to tab 1D, please?

M.G.:  Thank you.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Would you have discussed this document in the in-course training?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And can you tell me what they would have trained you to do with this document?

M.G.:  Basically how to fill out the form, how to show the customer what exactly they're signing for, what exactly they're agreeing for, and showing all the rates.  And that's pretty much it, because the terms and conditions actually come as a separate flyer, which we also supposed to give to the customer.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So maybe you can turn up tab 2C for me, please.

M.G.:  I am getting lost in those things.  Yes, that's the terms and conditions.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  And this was discussed in the in-course training, as well?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you.

And if you could turn to tab 3A, is this document familiar?

M.G.:  Yes.  That's a certificate, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  What were the discussions about this in the training?

M.G.:  Basically, it is a guarantee for the price protection, like -- and it is a blend and extend feature for the gas rate, basically, just in case if they are going down.  So that actually blend and extend is a good feature.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you, sir.

So you have had your in-course training, and then you mentioned that there was some in-field training following that?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you tell me about that, a little bit?

M.G.:  Well, basically for about a week, or, like, as long as it takes, you are going with the field manager and you are just listening, like, how he does the presentation and sales.

And after about a week, like, as I say, as long as -- as soon as you feel comfortable, you can try on your own.  And the manager will actually listen how you are doing.  It might take also a couple of days.  It took me a little more than two.  So as soon as I feel comfortable, they send me to the field.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So do you recall about how long you were observing, watching someone else do it before you did it yourself?

M.G.:  At least a week.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Then how long was someone else accompanying you?

M.G.:  Watching me?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Watching you, yes.

M.G.:  I think it was also another, like, about three, four days at least.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  So maybe about 10 days in total?

M.G.:  At least, I would say, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Then were you on your own after that?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

When were you giving the presentation yourself and being observed by your manager, was there any discussions after a presentation, where they might tell you how you did, or things that you did well or not?

M.G.:  Yes, of course.  If some corrections needs to be done or I said something -- like, again, like, I never been in this field before, so obviously it does need some corrections.

So that is what the manager does.  They're checking how I am –- basically, he check how I am doing and, like, correct me.  Like, after each visit, like, each customer I met, he correct me or he just telling me, like, how to do it better.

So that is, yeah, that is the whole reason he is right beside me.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, sir.

So I guess we are at the point now where you are out on your own and you are going door-to-door?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Maybe you can tell the Panel, if you ring someone's doorbell and they open the door, what would you say to them?  What would happen next?

M.G.:  Okay.  Basically as soon as they open the door, I show the badge, saying that I am from the Summitt Energy.  Hold on a second.  It has been already since time since I done that.

Yeah.  Okay.  I am just showing the badge, saying that I am from the Summitt Energy, and I am asking for the name from the list, if it is the same names.  I am usually proceed that Okay, I am here for the reason that we are doing the gas supply registration, and you can actually choose to have a protection for the gas rate.  And to determine that, I just need to see your Union Gas bill.

And usually I am waiting until the person actually show up with the bill.  If they're coming down, like, with the bill, I am just checking if they're not signed with any other companies yet, and if they're not, so I usually proceed with the materials in the binder, which is like usually showing, Okay.  The history shows that for the last 10 years, the price on the gas went up to, like, about 42 cents per cubic metre.

And it seems like it is going up.  And you do have an option to sign up for the price protection, which is such-and-such.  I usually showing on the application, the registration form, and explain to the customer that his choice is to actually sign the contract and have the protection.

In the same time, if the price going to drop, the customer does have an option of a blend-and-extend, which means, like, if the Summitt price goes down, he can -– like, at the customer request the price will be adjusted, after each anniversary, I guess, after each year.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you mentioned that you might ask the customer to bring down their current utilities bill?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Why would you do that?

M.G.:  Well, first of all, I need to show the customer what they're paying right now.  I need to get the account number information, which is required on the registration form.

And I am just checking the name, the address and everything with the customer, and I am just putting in the same, like, registration form.  With the bill, like it is just like on the bill, sometimes it is showing the -- their usage, their percentage, their rates, what they're paying right now, so it is kind of easy to show the customer, like, what's going on.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you might compare the rate they're currently paying to --

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:   -- the current Summitt rate?

M.G.:  Yes, to the Summitt rate.  And the same time you are showing the sales material, of course, showing the history, like energy prices.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you mentioned you might use the sales material.

We looked before at tab 2C of the sales kit binder.

M.G.:  Is that one?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Maybe you can just take that out for me.

M.G.:  That's the terms and conditions?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Yes.  In your presentation, how might you use this document?

M.G.:  This document, we actually use -– well, honestly it is mostly the last page.  It actually shows the diagrams, basically, of the price history in the last, I would say, like, I think six, seven years -- no, actually, sorry, 10 years.  Okay?

So it is showing the history of the 10 years' price increases.

So you do show this to the customer, plus another, of course, information we got from the, like, some newspapers, from some websites.  But that is -- yes, we do use that.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So if a customer heard you say "42 cents per cubic metre" you might have been referring to this chart?

M.G.:  Yes, definitely, because the last price actually in 2008, it was actually went to almost 42 cents; it is 41.8 or something.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

M.G.:  No problem.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Just while we are in this binder, I neglected earlier to show you a couple of documents, and I apologize.

If I could ask you to turn to tab 6 for a minute?

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  You were mentioning a badge.  Is this the badge that you might have worn?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If you can just take it out for me, maybe show me how you would wear it.

M.G.:  Well, actually, I wasn't we are wearing with the clip.  I was wearing with the neck -- how you call it?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  The lanyard?

M.G.:  Yes.  I am always forgetting that.

So it is always kind of on my chest.  Like, it is always right in front of me.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  You can put that back in tab 6.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If you can just turn back to tab 5?

M.G.:  Tab 5?  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  There is a number of items of Summitt clothing here.  Would you have used any of these out in the field?

M.G.:  I always use the hat.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is there one hat here in particular that you may have worn?

M.G.:  Actually, yes, that is the blue one.  It is page 9, sorry.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  In the winter --

M.G.:  This one, usually I wearing for about eight months.

And for the -- where is it?  Okay.  The hat from page 14, I was using for the three months, basically, in the winter.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  Now, do you know the reason why we are here today, Mr. G.?

M.G.:  Yes.  As far as I understand, it is some allegations against the Summitt and some complaints against me.  So I kind of have a feeling that I need to be here to clear, kind of, my name, because I feel it is some kind of misunderstanding on those complaints.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you know the general nature of the complaints that have been made?

M.G.:  Yes, I looked through some of them, I guess.  Some of them saying it is a misrepresentation, or I didn't left some information, or... they misunderstood some, I guess, programs, but -- like blend-and-extend, as an example.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, I would ask you to go to -- maybe we will just look at each of them quickly.  You have, I think, before you unredacted copies -- maybe Ms. Sinnott can help you with those -- of the contracts.

There is one for J.T., contract number F781953?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you have the unredacted copy in front of you?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And is that your signature at the bottom, like this is your form?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And do you remember anything specifically about this contract or this person?

M.G.:  Not specifically, no.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And maybe we will just look at the next one, Ms. Sinnott.  It is with A.H. and C.S.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This is your form, sir?

M.G.:  Yes, sir.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you remember anything specifically about these individuals?

M.G.:  Specifically, no.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Do you have any explanation for why you may not remember these people particularly?

M.G.:  Well, how we can put this?  I saw over probably 13,000 people within this year and a half that I am working for Summitt.  And I bring, I believe, over 1,000 contracts, so I don't remember exactly those people.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

If we can just go to -- there's two more that I would like to show you, particularly.  The one for D.M.?

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So I notice here that under the natural gas program there is a line through the 34.9 cents and 32.9 cents is written beside it?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you know who wrote the 32.9 cents there?

M.G.:  That is me.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you know why you would have written that there?

M.G.:  Probably, again, I don't remember specifically, but I usually -- it's probably done because we were discussing the price of the -- like, on the contract.  And either person tried to negotiate with me, which is possible -- like, it is very often happen, actually, and that's probably, like, one of the -- sometimes it leads to those conversations that you actually try to, Okay, that seems too high, my customer says.  So you will try maybe, okay, How about lower price would be more attractive to you?

So if you go from that point of view, that is probably why I did it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  And then the next one would be for A.S.  And, again, this is your form, sir?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you remember this person, in particular?

M.G.:  No.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And just under the natural gas program box, is that you who changed the price there?

M.G.:  Yes, I did.  Probably for the same reason.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, sir.

I think there is just one more, J.W.  And do you remember this person at all, sir?

M.G.:  No, I'm sorry.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you.

So you know that there have been some complaints, these complaints against you, over a period of time.

I would like to discuss with you what may have been done with Vi Va or with Summitt for kind of ongoing training.  So you finished the in-field training and you are out in the field.

What might have happened for ongoing training efforts?

M.G.:  Well, basically, we have every Monday at the Vi Va's office, they have meetings and every Monday discussion, basically, obviously motivation speeches, but we are discussing all of the complaints, whatever is -- if something new on the market, or something regarding the new rates, or any complaints, we always discuss this on the meetings.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So if the subject of complaints came up in the weekly meetings, what might be -- what might those discussions be?

M.G.:  Well, basically, as far as I understand, the people who is running the office receive some complaints, without the name mentioned, at the meetings.

Usually they're just being -- they're explaining to everybody, like, what not to do, again, if it is some complaints appears, so -- like, trying to fix it, like, right on the spot.  So that is why, like, every Monday it has been done.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Would there be anything else that you would do in terms of ongoing training?  Would you ever have one-on-one meetings with your manager?

M.G.:  Well, basically, yeah, if it's -- some specific complaints come against me, let's say, either the field manager or the office manager will actually meet with you and talk to you exactly, like, what exactly -- what's going on, which complaints you do have, and if I have any explanation how it happened.

So if it is fixable, we are trying to fix it, like, right away so it is not going to happen again.  So it is one of those things.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So they would show you the copy -- 

M.G.:  Basically, they will show what kind of complaints, what it is about and how to fix it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  How long would that -- would that meeting last if there was a particular complaint?

M.G.:  So depends what kind of complaint, I would say.  And if it is something big, probably the field manager will take you to the field to retrain you for a day or two, again.  Again, like it's -- with me, it did happen once, but -- in this period of time, but I know that it is very common practice, like just...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  Did you ever have any ongoing training from Summitt Energy Management directly?

M.G.:  Well, as far as I remember from the Summitt, probably -- from the Summitt office, probably every three months somebody was coming to the Vi Va's office with -- also with all of the news on the market, with all of the -- also discussing the complaints, and for the training purpose, basically.  But they did show up probably practically every, probably, three months.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And would they have any kind of presentation that they would give to you in those --

M.G.:  If it is something changes, like some paperwork changes or the application changes, the registration form or new terms and conditions - forms got changed couple of times in the year - so they are being shown all of that, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  There is one other document that I would like to show you, sir.  It is in the large binder, Summitt Energy sales agent kit -- sales agent sales and compliance training materials.  If you can just turn to tab 4D?

M.G.:  B or D?  Is it B or D?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  D.  Sorry, E.  Sorry, E.  Excuse me.

MS. SINNOTT:  Do you mean binder 2?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Yes.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you recognize this form?

M.G.:  Independent contractor agreement, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is that your signature at the bottom?  Ms. Sinnott has an unredacted copy for you.

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  And if you can just turn to the third page?

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is that your handwriting on the date?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you.

I think those are all of my questions, sir.  Thank you

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Beitchman.  Mr. Tunley.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.

Sir, my name is Phil Tunley and I act on behalf of the compliance counsel representing the Board compliance team.

I have some questions for you just on the evidence you have just given, and perhaps on some other areas.

First of all, I would just like to be clear.  I think you said that the period of time that you were with Summitt was from November 2008 to February 2010?

M.G.:  Approximately, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just query that, because one of the complaints, as I understand it, in the notice of hearing dates from November 8th, 2010.

M.G.:  Sorry, November --

MR. TUNLEY:  November 8th, 2010.  We didn't hear evidence, but it is allegation, paragraph 1.1.6.

M.G.:  Can I ask again, November 10, 2010?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I object to raising a complaint that is not in issue here.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is a dating issue.  I'm not raising a complaint.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, it is a dating issue.  Just to clarify, I think it is a fair question just to clarify the term of employment.

M.G.:  I misunderstood.  Is it November 2010?

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry, no.  It is 2008.

M.G.:  Thank you.

MR. TUNLEY:  So --

M.G.:  November 2008, yes, I was working for the company.

MR. TUNLEY:  When did you start, sir?

M.G.:  In November 2008.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are sure about that?

M.G.:  I just said that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I wanted to confirm that, in fairness to you, because it does seem as if you were in the field on November 8th, 2010 -- sorry, 2008, already.

M.G.:  It was probably ends of October I did receive the training.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

M.G.:  But I start working in the beginning of November, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Thank you.

And just to follow up on the training you received, you told us that -- sorry. 

 You were taken just now by my friend to tab 4D of the large binder.  Is that still out in front of you?  Do you still have that?

M.G.:  We are looking for it.  Hold on.

MR. TUNLEY:  This is tab 4D of the training materials binder.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you remember my friend showed you this --

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- document?  This is something that you signed when you first became a Summitt Energy employee; is that right?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  If you just look, the date of this appears to be June?  Is that June of -- June 9th, 2008?

M.G.:  Where did you see June, I'm sorry?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just for my edification, does this document actually refer to this specific agent?  Or is it a generic document?

M.G.:  No.  That is a generic.  My personal signature states October 27th, 2008.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.

 MS. SINNOTT:  He is at tab E.

MR. TUNLEY:  Ah, I have you at the wrong tab.  I'm sorry.  That is my mistake.  Tab E.

All right.  So the date, then, is October 27, 2008?

M.G.:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  These are the terms of your contract for services with Vi Va and Summitt?

M.G.:  Vi Va, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  At the time that that occurred, in October 2008, did you take a test?  I think you told us you took a test.


M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is no copy of a test here.  I take it you don't have that test today?  You don't have a copy of what you took?  No?  Summitt hasn't been able to provide it to you?

M.G.:  Like, me personally, I didn't bring anything today.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I am not meaning to criticize you, sir.

 M.G.:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just want to understand.  You don't have a copy of the test and it hasn't been provided?

M.G.:  Whatever the lawyers bring here, that is what I have.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Thank you.

Prior to October 27, 2008, you had never worked in the energy sector, or anything to do with it before?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  You had no training in relation to energy matters at all?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Prior to that, you had nothing to do with sales or marketing?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Have you continued -- since you left the employ of Vi Va -- are you still working for them?  You told us --

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are still working for them?  I thought you said you finished working for Summitt at the end of February 2010?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Did you continue working for Vi Va?

M.G.:  Vi Va?  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So you are working now for other energy marketers?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  What are you doing for Vi Va now?

M.G.:  It is not the energy marketing.  It is sales, but it's not energy.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So products other than energy?

M.G.:  Absolutely.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

And you told us, I think, that you remember doing two days of training with Vi Va when you first started?

M.G.:  In class, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In class?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  About three, three-and-a-half hours each day?

M.G.:  As far as I remember, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Then you described the field support that you received after that 10 days --

M.G.:  Training, field training.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

M.G.:  Yes, I did receive.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Were you ever asked by Vi Va to undergo further training in the course of working for them?  After you started on your own, you said after 10 days, you started on your own?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Were you ever required to undergo retraining at any point?

M.G.:  As I said, every Monday it has been a training or up-to-date kind of a training, every meeting.

So me personally, I believe it is in the end of summer 2009, I did -- went with my field manager for couple of days, again, just to review the presentation and just do the follow-up for the training, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I think as you described this -- let me make sure I understood your evidence with my friend -- you said usually the issue of complaints comes up in these weekly meetings?

 M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it is addressed to everybody in the room; no names are mentioned?

M.G.:  That's absolutely correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is that correct?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then if there is something specific to an agent, then there will be a separate discussion with that agent?

M.G.:  Absolutely right.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And I think you said that will be one-on-one?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it will -- the length will depend on the issue, the length of the time?

M.G.:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And did you have one of these meetings with your manager one-on-one?  Or did you have more than one of these meetings?

M.G.:  One-on-one?  I think I got a couple during this year and a half?

 MR. TUNLEY:  A couple?  Two, three?

M.G.:  Two or three, maybe.

MR. TUNLEY:  Two or three?  And in terms of length of the meeting, how long were they, generally?

M.G.:  Just discussing basically what kind of a complaint, if it is something like, I don't know, from 20 minutes to maybe half an hour, 40 minutes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Then I think you said -- and you said that they show you some documentation relating to the complaint.  You discuss the complaint, and you talk about how to fix it; is that right?

M.G.:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Have I got that right?  Okay.

M.G.:  That's the whole idea of the meeting, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then I think you said if it is something big, then the field manager will actually take you and retrain you?

M.G.:  I didn't say if it is something big.  I said just no matter what, if it is complaint and it is actually one of the day of the retraining, I choose to take.  Not the manager did.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So on one occasion, quite apart from this sit-down meeting one-on-one --

M.G.:  I assume once.

MR. TUNLEY:  There was at least one day of training that you were required to undergo with the field manager?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just tell us what happened on that occasion.

M.G.:  It was -- it was some complaint.  I don't remember.  Like, I think it was somebody was saying regarding the misrepresentation, like somebody thinking that I am from the Union Gas or something.  And just I went with the field manager, just, like we are showing the name, badge, like right away.

So, like, you don't clearly -- like, you will never say that you can -- actually from the utility company.  It is just, like, the badge is right on my chest.

MR. TUNLEY:  So in the day's training that you were required to undergo, I think you said just now it was one day you were required to undergo, and you asked to continue a second day; did I understand that?

M.G.:  Like, honestly, I don't remember specifically.  It is end of summer of 2009.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  What do you recall about the process on the day or two days?  Were you making the presentations in front of your manager?  Or was your manager demonstrating how to do it properly?

M.G.:  No.  I was showing my presentation.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

M.G.:  To the manager, again.  He was satisfied.  So the next day already I went to the field.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Was that happening in the field with customers?  Or was it happening --

M.G.:  In the field with customers.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  That's what I understood.

And you say it was in relation to one of the complaints where an allegation was made about --

M.G.:  I think it was.  I don't remember exactly, again, but I think it was regarding something regarding the misrepresentation for some reason.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And you don't remember which complaint it was?

 M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Or whether it is one of the ones that is before the Board today?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  One of things you are trained about is industry, how the industry works and things that affect prices; right?

M.G.:  Basically, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And one of those is smart meters?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You remember that was included in the training at a certain point in time?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was a significant development in the industry, and you were informed about the impacts that it might have on prices?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And the reason I take it for that is that is information you need to take to the customer that may affect their decision whether or not to sign up?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And can I just ask?  We have heard from other witnesses, but I understand at Vi Va you are compensated on a commission basis?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you are paid per customer signed up?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that is payable only after the reaffirmation call has been successfully completed?

M.G.:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And then in the event of a complaint later, that results perhaps in the cancellation of that contract, were you, sir, ever subject to having any deduction from your pay because of complaints?

M.G.:  I think it was happening once.

MR. TUNLEY:  Once?

M.G.:  And after, I think, a week, I got my money back.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

M.G.:  So I never -- I don't remember exactly, but I don't think I been charged once.  It was once cancellation.  My commission was taken back to Summitt, and it has been returned to me within a week.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you told us, I think, over the year and a half that you were in this line of work, that you met with many people.  How many, roughly, would you meet with every day?  How many customers would you actually talk to?

M.G.:  Between 30 and 40.  Probably 30.  To talk, actually?

MR. TUNLEY:  To actually talk with them.

M.G.:  Twenty-five to 30.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And then of those, on average -- I realize it will vary depending on the day of the week, but how many sign-up customers would you have per day?

M.G.:  Good question.  You know what?  It really all depends.  You may end up with nothing, or you may end up with four.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  But the average would be somewhere between those?

M.G.:  I would say, like, two, three, four maybe, average.  As I say, it was about -- in a year and a half, I got over 1,000 contracts, so average is about three, a little over three a day, if my math is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And then if I could just -- you were shown the binder for the complaint by D.M.  Do you still have that in front of you?

We were looking at tab A, sir.  Do you have that?

M.G.:  Just give me one second here.

MR. TUNLEY:  Absolutely.

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You remember my friend asked you about the handwritten annotation where you have crossed out 34.9 cents in the gas price line and replaced -- or handwritten 32.9.  Do you recall that?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you have the authority to negotiate the rate in the field?

M.G.:  Yes, we do.

MR. TUNLEY:  And what authority do you have?  How far can you go?

M.G.:  It is just -- usually it is about, like, one, two cents.  I think it is 34.9 or 32.9 is the bottom line.

MR. TUNLEY:  32.9 is the bottom line?

M.G.:  Yes.  Usually before I do this, I even call maybe my field manager just to ask him to make sure, like, I can actually go there or how far I can go, because, like, the rates on the gas, like, kind of it will rise, okay, and the bottom line it is also, like, always changing.  So...

MR. TUNLEY:  And that is why -- is this the subject of your daily meetings, about -- or weekly meetings, How far this week?  What is the bottom line this week?  It's going to change regularly, isn't it?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So this is something you discuss in your meetings?

M.G.:  It is something we discuss in our meetings, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And just while we are on that, when you discussed the rate with the customer, this is the rate that you would be offering them; right?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is the one on the contracts that we see; is that right?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So in your discussion with a customer, you are offering a rate somewhere between 34.9 and -- if they get into a negotiation with you, you can go down a couple of cents?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  We have had some discussion, and I think I heard you say, that you would ask the customer for a current utility bill, whether it is gas or electricity?

M.G.:  I never ask for the electricity, but for the gas bill, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm sorry, you never ask for the electricity bill?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  What if they don't have gas?  What if they're just an electricity company -- customer?

M.G.:  Electricity, I never -- like, if you see on this contract, there is no electricity account number, and none of those registrations will have the account number.  I never push for the electricity sale.  I was mostly -- most of the time I was just going for the gas.

MR. TUNLEY:  Can you explain why that is?

M.G.:  Well, because the smart meters -- as I said, the smart meters is coming.  Like, you can sell the product which you believe in; right?

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

M.G.:  So with the smart meters -- like, when you are approaching the customer, like, usually I am explaining everything regarding the gas sale, okay, like, what kind of protection they actually can have.  

When it comes -- like, when the explanation for the gas is finished, I am showing the bottom line here, like the bottom portion, regarding the electricity, that I am saying to the customer that, Well, we have a similar program for the electricity, but you know that smart meters coming to town.

Like, as soon as you mention smart meter, it is on TV, it is on the news.  Everybody start asking you, like, thousands of questions, like, How much is it?  How much is the rate?  What is this about?  The smart meters, is this good or bad?  So obviously the customer is asking. 

Now, the rate here is 7.59, as you can see on the page; right?  And it is explanation right underneath how much they're paying on the --

MR. TUNLEY:  Can I just interrupt?  You are still referring to the binder D.M. at tab --

M.G.:  The one you mentioned, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes, okay.  I just wanted that to be clear, because I had kind of moved on.  Sorry about that.  Carry on.  You are using it as an example; right?

M.G.:  I am not in a hurry.  I am here.

MR. TUNLEY:  No, no, no.  I just want to be fair to you, sir.  I am trying to explain.  I am not sure it is clear to everyone in the room and I want it to be clear.

M.G.:  Yes.  Basically regarding the smart meters, I did explain to the people.  Like, if they can actually adjust to the smart meter rating, it might be not be an advantage to them to sign up for this program.

But within ten days -- you got ten days to figure it out.  You can go on the website on your utility, check it out, figure it out if it is worth it for you or not to sign up for this.  Within ten days when you going to receive the verification call, it is your choice to say yes or no.

Okay, so that is regarding the electricity, smart meters.  That is what you ask; right?

MR. TUNLEY:  I didn't ask specifically about --

M.G.:  Okay, sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  But I have heard your evidence, sir.

In this example that we are looking at, D.M., you did in fact fill in Milton Hydro and the -- you don't have an account number.

M.G.:  I never ask for the account number.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  But you have ticked off five years at 7.59 cents per kilowatt-hour?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you're saying you didn't discuss that with the customer?

M.G.:  Yes, I did discuss that.  I told them the options, what they do have, and they will decide it on their own within those ten days.  Like, this signature, there is basically no obligation to the contract until the verification call.  They have to say yes to this program within ten days when they are going to call them, and the verbal is in ten days.  

If they decided on their own research it is not worth it to them, they can actually adjust to the night rates, which is the cheapest, and they can actually switch some activities, whatever, to the evenings, like, to the cheapest rate, that is fine.  So it is not worth it for them, maybe.

But if they are -- like, have lots of kids and they're using all the electricity, the most of that, during the day, during the basically most expensive time, then maybe it is worth it for them.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

M.G.:  I always discuss that with the customer, and I give them as an option.  It is their choice.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just want to be clear that you are remembering what you would regularly discuss in these circumstances?

M.G.:  That's regular, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are not remembering a specific conversation?

M.G.:  Not specific, no. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Fair enough.  Again, I want to be fair to you.  I want the Board to understand your evidence. 

M.G.:  Absolutely. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And that is how you present it to the customers?

M.G.:  Always. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And this is the form that goes with that discussion?

M.G.:  Yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  This kind of form, I should say. 

M.G.:  That kind of form, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I understand.  And then... okay.

 You don't collect or keep a copy of the gas bill from the customer?

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Or the electricity bill, if they show you one?

M.G.:  Never do. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You have talked about a list that you have.  You have referred to that in your evidence.  You sometimes have a list of names or customers; is that right?  

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  How would that be generated?  Who would generate that?

M.G.:  I am getting the list from the office. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So on the weekly meetings, you are given a list of customers?  

M.G.:  Actually, I think it is on the -– weekly -- yeah, just my field manager just basically give me the list, like some areas where I work.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.  And what do you understand that information is?  

M.G.:  I think it is a 411 listing, I am pretty sure.  Except I think they're eliminating those no-soliciting listings on the phone list.  So there is eliminated some addresses and names.  

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So it is just a telephone listing of customers --

M.G.:  Yes.  Because when I show up at the door, basically I am asking for the names on the list, what I have.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right. 

M.G.:  And the person basically replies that is him, so I just continue with the presentation.  

Or if it is not them, I am usually asking:  Are you, like, are you renting here?  Or are you just bought this house?

 So if they're renting here, the house, we cannot sign up, so I don't even continue with the conversation.  

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  

M.G.:  But if they're just a new owner, so I just explain to them their options, as I said. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Does the list ever give you information about recent sales of houses in the area, from the MLS listings?

M.G.:  That, I don't know. 

MR. TUNLEY:  You don't know?  Okay.  As far as you know, it is a telephone -- 

M.G.:  As far as I know, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me just ask you, were you aware of any formal complaints process that was used within Vi Va or within Summitt?  A written policy that told you how complaints are dealt with?  

M.G.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And you have described in your evidence how the complaints that you experienced were dealt with, with you?  

M.G.:  With me, yes.  

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And as I understand your evidence, in terms of the reaffirmation call process, your evidence is that is when the contract is really formed, is during the reaffirmation, and they got the 10 days to look over everything and -- is that right?

M.G.:  Just to double-check everything, yes.  Like any normal person, like, if you have 10 days, might as well use it to do your own research. 

MR. TUNLEY:  So if you haven't discussed electricity and the customer doesn't want electricity, the time for them to raise that is in the reaffirmation call?  

M.G.:  At the reaffirmation, there have to -- finalize, yes.  But I do discuss it with them, the rates they're paying on the smart meters, or the rate they can get as a cap on the contract.

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, you have given us evidence about your presentation at the door, the standard approach that you take, right?  

M.G.:  Yes.  

MR. TUNLEY:  And you are aware that we have before the Board -- we have heard from seven witnesses about five incidents in which those seven witnesses say that you did not follow – they've said under oath that you did not follow that process that you have described to us.

 You are aware of that, right?  In fairness to you?

M.G.:  Yes.  Yes.  I was shown that, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Your evidence, as I understood it, in-chief was that you believe that is a misunderstanding on their part?

M.G.:  I believe it is.  

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Do you have any other explanation for it, beyond that?  

M.G.:  Yes, I do understand that.  Like, it is most of the complaints, I am pretty sure it is a misunderstanding.  

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  When you stopped working for Summitt, that was because, as I understand it, Vi Va was --stopped working for Summitt in early 2010; is that correct?  

M.G.:  Yes.  That's -- I think Vi Va was still working for Summitt for a little longer, another probably two or three months.

MR. TUNLEY:  Into -- after you stopped, you mean?  

M.G.:  After I stopped, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  But you are still with the company, doing other things?  

M.G.:  Yes.  

MR. TUNLEY:  So when exactly did you stop?  I think you told us in your evidence it was approximately -- 

M.G.:  I think it was the end of February, or maybe beginning of March.  Like, I don't remember specific.  

Again, like, I got kind of laid off from Summitt, so, but I didn't receive, like, any specific day letter.  So I don't know exactly.  

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  When you say -- sorry, again, I need to be sure that everybody is understanding.  

You say you were laid off by Summitt in February?

M.G.:  Yeah, end of February or beginning of March.  Yes, absolutely.  

MR. TUNLEY:  But not by Vi Va?  You kept working for Vi Va on other things, as I understand it?

M.G.:  Yes.  For the other things, yes.  

MR. TUNLEY:  So it was at the request of Summitt that you stopped working on their program; is that an accurate way to say it?

M.G.:  That is my understanding. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I think those are all of my questions.  Thank you.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any redirect, Mr. Beitchman?  
Re-Examination by Mr. Beitchman:

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I just have one question in redirect.  

My friend was asking you about the retraining that you may have had for misrepresentations for identifying yourself as from the utility.

 Is there any reason that you might say that you were from the utility?

M.G.:  How about I can give you explanation why I cannot say that I am from the utility?  If that would be good?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Please.  

M.G.:  Like, obviously we are working to get paid, right?  So if I would say that I am from the utility, you see, at the verification call, the first thing the person asking the customer is:  The agent identify himself as the Summitt Energy agent?  And if the customer will say:  No, he is from the Union Gas, the deal is off.

 I am not going to get paid and there will be no complaint because it doesn't go anywhere.  It just stops at that point.  

The same with the -– like, any other, like, on the verification call, basically, like, it is like any other complaints.  It basically explained some of them anyway.

 Did I answer the question?  

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

M.G.:  Okay.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Board Staff?  

MR. DUFFY:  Board Staff has a few questions.  
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:


MR. DUFFY:  The first one, just to the point that you were discussing with Mr. Beitchman, when you would approach a customer, were you ever instructed to specifically identify that Summitt Energy was not associated with the utility?

M.G.:  We are explaining that we are just suppliers.  We will be on the utility bill as a supplier. 

MR. DUFFY:  Did you tell that -- 

M.G.:  But we are not owned by the utility. 

MR. DUFFY:  Did you tell that to the customer?  

M.G.:  Yes. 

MR. DUFFY:  Only if they asked?  

M.G.:  No.  It is not only if they asked.  I have to say that, because the Summitt, again, it is -- on the same verification call, like, they are mentioned that they're not affiliating with or we are not owned by any utility company.

MR. DUFFY:  So your evidence is that you would tell them at the beginning of the conversation?

M.G.:  Yes.  Most of the time, as far as I remember, yes, I do.  

MR. DUFFY:  One of the complaints relates to the provincial benefit. 

M.G.:  Okay. 

MR. DUFFY:  If I a customer asked you about the provincial benefit, what would you tell them?  

M.G.:  Well, basically -- the provincial benefit?  Like, it is not me personally come up with that.  

So the customer actually receiving the provincial benefit.  

MR. DUFFY:  When you say receiving -- 

M.G.:  If they're signing up for the -- on the contract, they are going to get the provincial benefit, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  So if the customer says:  What is it that I am receiving with the provincial benefit, what would you tell them?  

M.G.:  Okay.  Okay.  The word "benefit," that is besides the point. 

Apparently, they are receiving the provincial benefit, but right now it is a charge to a customer.  Like, if the customer asking, like, for the specifics, like:  What is that, like, right now it is a charge to the customer.  Sometimes it is a credit to the customer.  But in the -- like in the period like right now, it is a charge.  

MR. DUFFY:  Would you explain that to the customers when they would ask?

M.G.:  If they are asking, yes. 

MR. DUFFY:  You told us that there was no written policy at Vi Va or Summitt with respect to conduct?

Was it ever verbally explained to you what the consequences were if you violated the Codes of Conduct?  

M.G.:  Yeah.  If you violate?  Yeah.

MR. DUFFY:  What were those consequences?  

M.G.:  I think, like, basically you are getting fired.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Any other consequences?

M.G.:  Like, I don't remember, honestly.  Like, it's been some time probably since my training.

MR. DUFFY:  That will be all of the Board Staff questions.  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  You mentioned in your testimony that you would point to the graph of gas prices and show that historically prices are going up?

M.G.:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  But even in the period that you worked for Summitt, gas prices, in fact, went down?

M.G.:  Yes, they did.

MS. HARE:  And did you continue to point to that graph and show that gas prices will go up?

M.G.:  Now it is falling because of the recession, and I strongly believe that it actually will go up.  And, actually, it did went up, I believe, like, 10 or 11 cents just about half a year ago.

MS. HARE:  No.  No.  They're down, but on what basis did you blame it on the recession?  Was that something that you believed or did Summitt, your training -- Vi Va told you that?

M.G.:  No, no.  I was just showing basically the sale literature, like, what we have from the newspapers, what to expect from the energy companies, like, even from their websites, the history of the sales.  Like, the price actually went up practically 400 percent.

So, like, we are showing that literature.  So, like, nobody -- just me personally.  Nobody expect it will actually drop that much.

MS. HARE:  What was typically the spread between the price that you were offering and the utility price?

M.G.:  Okay.  Let's put it... Like, right now, as far as I understand, the price on the market is about 17 cents, and the sales price, it is probably about 27, 28, I would -- like, roughly saying.

So probably, like, ten cents difference; that is right now.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  But when you were doing sales, there would be a spread, also.  Did you highlight that to the customer?

M.G.:  Highlight different -- 

MS. HARE:  Did you point out the difference between what you were offering and what they were paying on that day?

M.G.:  Yes.  When I am -- when the customer brings the bill, I am showing on the bill what they're paying right now.  I am showing the -- on the contract how much it is going to be.  And obviously you are showing the history, how far it can go, actually, because in 2008 it was the price at 42 cents.  So, like, it is not the imagination.  It was the history.

MS. HARE:  Are you sure that that was the utility price, or that was Summitt's price?

M.G.:  No, that was utility price.  Hold on a sec.  I am just trying to remember my house bill in 2007, and I am pretty sure it was around 40 cents, something.  2008, do we have, um..., brochure, the terms and conditions?  It is right here; right?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If I can assist the witness, I think he is looking for tab 2C.

M.G.:  Yes, it is.

MS. SINNOTT:  That is a brochure from 2009.

M.G.:  That is the one showing the beginning of 2008, 40 -- a little over 40 cents beginning of 2008.  That's correct?

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

M.G.:  That's right here on the terms and conditions, sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one question, I think, sir.

As I look at material that appears in tab -- this is in the volume which is K4.5, the Summitt Energy sales agent sales and compliance training materials, tab 1.  

And tab 1 contains a number of sales information manuals -- 

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- for Ontario electricity and natural gas.  And I think, in this respect, they are all the same.  So I am just pointing you to the one under tab A, but I think, in this respect, all of the sales information manuals are the same.

On page 16 of that sales -- first of all, do you recognize this as a sales material -- or training material that you received?

M.G.:  Like, honestly, it looks familiar.  I don't remember if it is exactly the same, but it is close enough, I guess.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough, sir.

On page 16, there is a paragraph that starts:
"In the case Summitt's fixed price gas prices go down, you can take advantage of our blend and extend option."

I do have a little question about that.  But what I am really interested this is the last sentence in that paragraph, and this is in connection with a door script sample.  This is something that you would be saying to the customers at the door; right?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And it says in the last sentence of that paragraph, and I'm sorry I haven't been very acute in getting you to it, but it says:
"The only difference you will see is Summitt Energy on your local utility bill next to our guaranteed price."

Do you see that?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In fact, with respect to electricity, that is not true, is it?  Wouldn't there be something else on the bill if you chose to sign up with the price protection plan?  Wouldn't there be something else on the electricity bill if --

M.G.:  I don't know the electricity bill.  On the gas bill the -- 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What about the electricity bill?

M.G.:  Like, on the gas bill, it will be the rate that they're paying.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

M.G.:  The transportation, I believe, delivery, adjustment, and I think that is about it; right?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What about the electricity bill?

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would there be something else on the electricity bill?

M.G.:  On the electricity bill?  The benefits, you mean, if you sign up for the program?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would make that clear to the customer?

M.G.:  I actually make it clear to the customer, yes, that they will receive the provincial benefit.  Right now it is a charge.  Before that, it was a credit.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you use the word - and you have used it a couple of times - you say, "you will receive the provincial benefit", we have seen other terminology, such as, You are eligible for the provincial benefit.

M.G.:  Eligible, receive.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, that is my problem.  My problem is those words.

M.G.:  My problem is the word "benefit".

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

M.G.:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This I understand, too.

M.G.:  Okay, but, you know, that is what I was always trying to explain to the customer.  The benefit is not actually a benefit anymore.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

M.G.:  But, I mean, like, it depends on the time.  It depends on the price they get, because the benefit charge, I remember my bill just about three months ago, it was like four cents add to my bill.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

M.G.:  Right now it is dropping.  So it will always kind of a variety benefit, I guess.  Like, they're always different, but it might be a credit; it might be a charge.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In fact, when one of the -- when you were selling the product, were you selling stability of pricing?

M.G.:  We are just selling, yes, the price.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The idea that your price is not going to change?

M.G.:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But isn't the existence of the provincial benefit, isn't that contrary to that?  Doesn't that mean your bill is going to change regularly?  Doesn't that mean that the price protection doesn't provide you with stability?

M.G.:  You see, that is -- like, in my particular case -- let's put it this way.  As I mentioned before, I did never push the customer actually to sign up for the electricity.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.

M.G.:  Because I don't really believe it.  Me personally, I can adjust to the smart meter readings -- to the smart meter pricing.  Some people can't.  And you know what?  If I would sign up, like, let's say, for five, six cents half a year ago, stupid me if I didn't do it.  Okay?  Like, you know, really, right now it is already, like, 10 cents on peak and it will be more.  

So sometimes probably it is a good idea, but, again, in my case, it is not worth it, and I always mention this to the customer.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was my point.  So you mention that to the customer.  That is your evidence.

The other question that I had is with respect to the blend and extend program.

M.G.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, the terminology that we have heard from witnesses is that if gas prices go down, they could benefit from that.  But that isn't quite true, is it?

M.G.:  Okay.  The explanation the customer usually gets, like, first of all, they're receiving the -- where is the certificate?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am not trying to --

M.G.:  No, no, I am trying to show you the paper we actually leave to the customer was actually -- like, it shows hundred percent guarantee for the price protection if it goes up, and it does explain here that the blend and extend, like, if the price actually drops and the Summitt price, obviously, if it is going down, that will be adjustment.  At the customer request. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand, but it is the Summitt price, it is the price that Summitt offers in its contracts, if that price goes down -- it is not if the gas prices go down in the sort of general marketplace -- it is if the Summitt price goes down?  That is the lynch-pin of the blend-and-extend program, isn't it?  

M.G.:  Yes.  But that is basically how you explain to the customer, like, if the price on the market drops, the usual Summitt price also goes down. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, that second part is an important qualification, though, isn't it?  It is a critical qualification?

M.G.:  Yeah, it is. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that it is if the market price goes down, and -- and really if it is the Summitt price goes down, because the blend-and-extend only applies to the Summitt price.

M.G.:  Yes. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not to the market price?

M.G.:  Yes, that is the absolutely correct. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  And you are always careful in your sales communication to ensure the customer understands that it is the Summitt price?

M.G.:  Summitt, yes, that's correct, because it is right on top of the certificate, it says "Summitt Energy" so it is actually showing that is regarding the Summitt price.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  You specifically draw the customer's attention to that portion of the agreement or the terms and conditions?  So you say, I want you to make sure, and let's be -- we may as well be explicit about it.  Let's take one of the -- any of the registration forms.  I don't think a lot turns on which one we use.  

But you would say, This includes the blend-and-extend option.  And you would then point the customer to the -- to that, and then you would -- would you also refer them to the blend-and-extend terminology in this document?

M.G.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you would take them directly to this document, the customer agreement, and you would say the blend-and-extend program is described in here?  Is that right?

M.G.:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would do that?

M.G.:  Blend-and-extend, like, the general information, basically, it says on the certificate, but for more information I always leave the terms and conditions.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  You leave the terms and conditions, but I think you --

M.G.:  And ask the customer to review, obviously. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  But you don't draw their attention to it?  

M.G.:  Like, regarding the -- exactly blend-and-extend?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Correct. 

M.G.:  Like, you know what?  Honestly, like, sometimes you do, if the customer mentions, like, specifically that, because I would say, like, the terms and conditions is one of those things, like, you have to bring the attention to everything.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair answer. 

Do you draw the customer's attention to the customer agreement, any specific portions of the customer agreement, when you -- after they sign the registration form?  

M.G.:  After they sign the registration, you leave usually the certificate, and terms and conditions with explanation that was in:  You better read -– like, you do review what you did sign, what you are entitled for, like what you got.

And within 10 days, they will call you for the verification.  And if you agree to everything, you just supposed to say -- like, basically you are saying yes because the verification -- verification call is -- actually goes through all of those details, like if the customer actually was left with the information, if the customer actually been told that we are from Summitt.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

M.G.:  And we are not owned by any utility companies.  It has been asked all of those questions on the verification call.

MR. SOMERVILLE:  And that's --

 M.G.:  If something is not matching, the verification call doesn't go through.  That's it. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  

Your understanding of the verification call is that it takes the customer through a series of questions related to the presentation that you have made and your presentation.  Is that your -- I understood you to say that earlier.  

That it is your expectation that the verification call specifically asks the customer:  Did the sales agent represent themselves as a Summitt agent?  

M.G.:  Yes, they're asked that. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

 Anything arising?  Mr. Beitchman?

I think we will break for lunch.  Let's come back at 2:00 o'clock.  And we have a fighting chance to all get away at a reasonable time.  

Thank you very much, sir.  You are excused.  Thank you for your coming down today.  We appreciate it.  Thanks.

M.G.:  Thank you very much.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:06 p.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 2:05 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

I am sure we have all enjoyed our sumptuous lunches.  I know Ms. Girardi and I did, having met in the food court of the grocery store.

Are there any preliminaries?  Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  I will just -- just while the witness is being sworn, perhaps I will just reference for the record that this witness is G.S., and he is the agent.  And he will be speaking to items 3.1 -- or the allegations in items 3.1.3, 3.1.5 and 3.1.6 of the notice of intention, which is the matters concerning him for which evidence was filed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
G.S., AFFIRMED
Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Is your microphone on, sir?

G.S.:  Yes, it's on.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you for coming today.  As we discussed just prior to this hearing, we are trying to maintain the confidentiality of both the customers and the agents.

So you will be referred to as G.S. or perhaps just the sales representative, and I would ask you not to use your real name.  And so far as the customers go, you can call them the customers or the initials that appear on the front of the binders which you have there, but try not to use their real name or addresses.  Thank you.

Can you confirm for me you were a sales agent for Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  And who did you work for?  Who provided your services to Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  I work under the supervision of Mr. A., original manager.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is it fair to say that you worked for him and, in doing so, provide or sell Summitt Energy electricity and gas contracts?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  And can you tell me how long, for what period of time you did that?

G.S.:  Roughly, I started in February 2008 until June this year.

MR. SELZNICK:  And was this your first job in selling energy contracts?

G.S.:  No.  I worked for a month or two for Superior Energy Management selling natural gas.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you take training with Superior?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And you then started with Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  You were trained again by Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  What did that initial training with Summitt Energy comprise?

G.S.:  In the initial training, we went through the slide shows and PowerPoint presentation.  We were handed out some supporting documents, what to do, what not to do.  We were familiar with the Ontario Energy Board and OEA rules and regulations, code and conduct stuff.

G.S.:  Where did that training take place?

G.S.:  It was in the head office of Summitt.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how long did the training take?

G.S.:  Approximately between two, three hours.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how would you -- how would you compare that training with the training you took at Superior?

G.S.:  It was same.  Almost everything was same.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

And at the end of that training, did you write some kind of exam?

G.S.:  Yes.  We went through the exam and I made a perfect score.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And you mentioned in your evidence -- I don't think I will belabour it, but you said that you had talked about the codes?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Which codes were those?

G.S.:  In that rules and regulation, what we have to follow when we talk to the customer, not signing up the minors, not signing up the children.  We can talk to the husband, wife or common-law partners, these kind of stuff.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Can you describe for the Board whether there is any particular uniform that you had to wear?

G.S.:  Yes.  Normally every day I wear Summitt Energy T-shirt, the logo in the top left corner and my ID badge around my neck.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I can take you to this, there should be a binder, a thinner binder, by you called on the front "Summitt Energy Sales Kits".  Do you see that?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you turn to tab 5 of that binder?  Yes, that's the one.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you just flip through those pages - there is about 14 of those pages - and identify which pages are the ones that contain things that you might have worn?

G.S.:  That's the Summitt Energy T-shirt, page 1, 2, 3, and that Summitt hat, as well.  Yes, winter jacket.

MR. SELZNICK:  Which jacket are you looking at?

G.S.:  Page number 11.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

G.S.:  Spring jacket.  Yes, 13, winter jacket.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thirteen is a jacket you would have worn?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm, in the winter, and toque, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Number 14 you would have worn?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  And what are the tools of your trade?  When you are working with Summitt, what did you have when you went on sales calls?  What did you carry with you on sales calls?

G.S.:  Basically, I carry my binder with me, including the registration form of Summitt price protection program, and the terms and condition brochure and my business card, and some other of the other tools, like market news regarding the energy, how the -- market trends, energy is going up or down kind of thing.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  So let's go back to that sales kit, if you wouldn't mind, that brochure called "Summitt Energy Sales Kit".

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And could you look at the documents at tab 1?  Just quickly look at the documents tab 1 and just confirm for me these are samples of the registration forms that you would carry on an average sales day at the periods in question?

G.S.:  Yes.  Since last two years, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you look at tab 2 of that same binder?

G.S.:  Tab 2, yes.  That's the brochure. 

MR. SELZNICK:  The different times forms of brochures on the times mentioned.  These are the kind of brochures you would carry?

G.S.:  Yes, including terms and conditions and some market trends here.

MR. SELZNICK:  What is at tab 3?

G.S.:  Tab 3?  That's my business card.  Usually I leave my name and ID number with the customer all the time.

MR. SELZNICK:  On the back where it has those spaces, you would write in your ID and name.

G.S.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you can go to tab 7 for the moment --  sorry, not tab 7.  Tab -- my mistake.  Tab -- yes, tab 7.  Just take a moment to flip through those documents.  Are those the types of -- are those the types of newspaper articles and sales tools you would use?

G.S.:  Yes.  These are some energy news in the market so we can show to the customer, like, how the market is fluctuating, volatile natural gas prices.

MR. SELZNICK:  Where would you get that material from?

G.S.:  Normally from a manager, Mr. M.

MR. SELZNICK:  How often would he give you that material?

G.S.:  It depends.  Like, twice a month sometimes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Just so we don't have to go back to this book, if you could go to the item at tab 6 and identify that for me?  What is that?

G.S.:  That is our ID badge, yes, and the picture, name and ID number.

MR. SELZNICK:  Your badge looked like this one -- 

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  With a different picture, obviously.  Okay.

Now, let's take up the story from where you had your initial training, passed your initial training, the in-classroom kind of training at Summitt Energy's office.

You now go into the field.  You now go on the job, and was there training at that point, too?

G.S.:  Yes.  In the first five or ten days, I was listening to my manager when he was knocking the door, and after that I start -- when I feel comfortable, when I was able to talk to the customer, I start talking to one of my customers and he was listening to me.

MR. SELZNICK:  When you say "he" was listening to you, who was listening to you?

G.S.:  My manager.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

G.S.:  He was listening to me, like, what to say to the customer.  What I was doing wrong, he was making me say it right, kind of those things.

MR. SELZNICK:  For how long did that continue?

G.S.:  I believe for two -- two, three weeks, yeah.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Now, in addition to that training where I take it he shadowed you for a little bit until he was comfortable that you knew what to say and knew what not to say, what other kind of things happened with your manager or that company to reinforce training with you?  What other things did you guys do?

G.S.:  In shape of what?  Like... 

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you have meetings?

G.S.:  Yes, weekly meetings.  Yeah, Mondays every week our crew talked together, like, what we are doing wrong.  Like, if I am not doing enough sales per week, then I talk to my manager.  Like, something is wrong in my speech, he would retrain me normally.

MR. SELZNICK:  And who ran those meetings?

G.S.:  My manager, Mr. M.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did he discuss complaints with you at those meetings?

G.S.:  Oh, yeah.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what was the outcome of -- if he said there was a complaint, did you discuss it with him?

G.S.:  Yes.  Sure.

MR. SELZNICK:  And were there any other -- were there any one-on-one sessions between you and the manager?

G.S.:  Yes.  Normally for the complaints, if there is any complaint particular to me, then it was one-to-one session between me and my manager.

MR. SELZNICK:  Was any training provided by Summitt Energy after the initial training?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you describe that?

G.S.:  In that -- yearly training is our basic training but after three to four -- after every three months, yes, we went to another revision of the training, like what's going in the market, anything new, like what is the new price we are offering in the market.  And some other mandatory changes in the applications.

MR. SELZNICK:  And then I take it you wrote another exam in the year after you started?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  What was that?

G.S.:  It was -- most of the terms are the same, division of OEB, codes of conducts, because we have to write the exam every year.

MR. SELZNICK:  So if you can look at -- there is a binder marked "binder 2" there:  "Summitt Energy sales agent, sales and compliance training materials."

Do you see that binder.

G.S.:  Mm-hmm, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  If you would just look at tab 1, for the moment, of that binder, you will see various sorts of documents there.

Can you tell me what those -- what those look like to you?

G.S.:  Yes.  These are all of our, you know, supporting documents, and regarding our company history, trends in the market.

MR. SELZNICK:  Are these the kinds of documents that you -- that were at the initial and the other training sessions you had with Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you go to, as I flip here -- hold on -- tab 3A, you will see did it is a document that says:  "Ontario Energy Association"?

G.S.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me what this document is?

G.S.:  Yes.  This was, like, a training model for when we went to the OEA's training.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

G.S.:  Yes.  We went through all of the codes and conducts, to-do, not-to-do stuff.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you go now to tab 4 of that same binder.

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  I just have to find the right tab here.  Tab 4C.  Can you tell me what this document is?

G.S.:  Yes.  Before starting my job with Summitt, when I went -- when I passed my exam, I signed that, the contract agreement with Summitt, so I get my licence as a salesperson.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I can take you to page 3 of that form.

G.S.:  Mm-hmm, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you see there is a reference to OEA training?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  So when it references here that the Ontario Energy Association requires its retailer energy members, et cetera, et cetera, that you have completed training on an annual basis --

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- is this what -- the next thing we are going to see, is this training test?  Is this the annual training test you took?

G.S.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you pass that test?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And is this your mark in the corner here?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And just go back to the actual form, the one marked -- called "Independent contractor agreement form," if you could turn to page 3 of this -- if you turn to page 3 of this form, you see the first part:  "cause for termination"?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  Was that pointed out to you at the time you signed this agreement, those provisions?

G.S.:  Those are the major calls, right?  They are saying we are not allowed to sign the minors, elderly people, especially with children, and, yeah, all sort of things.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Now let's talk about your sales activity for a minute.

How did you decide what customers to approach when you were doing door-to-door sales?

G.S.:  Normally, we never decide.  Like, we knock on every single door on the street.

MR. SELZNICK:  Who makes a decision which streets you knock on the door?

G.S.:  That's our manager.

MR. SELZNICK:  And does he tell you -- does he tell you why he has chosen that street?

G.S.:  No, not really, because we treat all areas the same as it is like...

MR. SELZNICK:  So it doesn't matter whether the person is a new home buyer or an old home buyer, he just designates we are doing this street or this block today; is that right?

G.S.:  No.  We just choose the street and we work on the same particular area.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what are your usual working hours during a working day?

G.S.:  Roughly between 11:00 a.m. to 7:00 or 8:00 p.m.

MR. SELZNICK:  How come you go so sort of, like, after the dinner hour?  Why do you include the dinner hour in there?

G.S.:  Basically in the evening, like, lots of people are home.  That's the main idea, so...

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And I think your evidence was earlier -- just to put this next question in perspective --you took with you the binder with the brochure and the registration form and some advertising material and that certificate, business card, with you in your binder when you went on sales calls?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Now, can you, for us, demonstrate what your presentation would be, the opening part of your presentation?  Obviously, it would change if someone asked you a question, but how would you normally open your sales presentation to a customer?

G.S.:  Like, normally we wear the ID badge and I have the binder in the left hand.  So when we knock the door, somebody answer the door, we represent like:  Hi.  This is G. from the Summitt Energy.  We're showing the ID badge at the same time.

Then, basically, my main question:  Can I talk to the account-holder?  Because there is no point wasting our customer's time, right?  So if they say that account-holder is available to look after the utility bill, then we talk to them about that, I am from Summitt Energy.  We are offering the price protection program.  And Summitt Energy, we are the independent marketer.  We are not from your local utility.  And we provide the price stability for five years.

That is your peace of mind, so in this, that's the potential saving for the next five years, if the market price goes higher than what you are paying, then the Summitt Energy, we are offering you, for example, we are offering 30 cents today, and if the market price goes above that, then customer will potentially save some money on the bill.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if they ask you what the blend-and-extend option is, what would your answer be?

G.S.:  In the blend-and-extend option, as I said, for example, if you locked the price at 30 cents today, every anniversary customer can call Summitt Energy office, that if Summitt is offering less price than whatever the person was -- the customers was locked, as opposed to -- after one year, we are offering 25 cents.  The customer can call the Summitt that -– what's your price right now?

In that, we blend the existing price with the offer price in the market, and then we have to extend our contract for another term, one- or two-year.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if the customer says they're not interested, what do you do?

G.S.:  In that, like, we show them the market trend, like, because natural gas is a limited source we have.  And in the last five, 10 years the market price has gone up.  So we show them, if you enrol in this program today, you potentially save some money on the bill, because if you are paying less than market in the next five years, then there is a potential to save.

MR. SELZNICK:  If they are not interested, would you ever leave anything for them to read?

G.S.:  We leave a business card and the terms and conditions brochure, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you knock on the door and no one was there, would you leave anything?

G.S.:  No.  Nobody is home then.

MR. SELZNICK:  Would there be any incentive to you not to leave the registration form, the terms and conditions and the business card?  Would it benefit you not to do those things?

G.S.:  It's a code of violation, so I have to follow the, you know, rules and regulations from OEB.

MR. SELZNICK:  So do you get paid based upon registrations, or paid based upon completed contracts?

G.S.:  No.  Basically after 10 days, we have to call the customer to confirm that he want to enrol in the price protection or not.  If the customer is saying yes, then after that I get paid.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if the customer says no?

G.S.:  Then zero.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

G.S.:  No sales.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if one of the customer says to you, Thanks for knocking on my door, or whatever, but I am busy and I don't have any time to speak to you now, what would you say?

G.S.:  Normally, we leave the business card with the brochure, and -- because if I am on the street and I make my own list, that if the customer said I am busy now, come back after two more hours, and during that is under my working hour, then this is our call-back.  So we go back to the customer.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  So I would like to turn now to specific complaints we have here.  Perhaps Ms. Sinnott could hand you the binder for -- I will tell you which one here.

It is -- W.G. is the registration, A615830.  This is matter 3.1.3 in the notice of intention, if you also show the witness the unredacted version of that document.

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am going to ask you a series of questions on this binder, but I may repeat them on the other, so I will probably go was faster on the other binders.

Do you recognize the name of the person on this one?  Don't say the name, but do you recognize the name of the person on this form?

G.S.:  It is hard to recognize.  I know this is my handwriting, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  I will ask you about the handwriting in a second.  I am just asking whether you recognize the name of the person.

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Why might it be you don't recognize the name of the person?

G.S.:  Every day we meet, like, 20, 30 people; right?  So it is hard to tell who is who.

MR. SELZNICK:  So not knowing the person, are you still familiar with the address area and the jurisdiction where this took place?  Is that a place where you would have sold?

G.S.:  Yes.  We work in this area normally.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is this your handwriting, other than for the signature of the customer?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is your signature in the bottom and your ID number?

G.S.:  Yes, sir.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And when you are at the doorstep and you are doing this, do you ever fill this in in advance?

G.S.:  No, never.  We can't fill it in, because we need to see the bill from the customer.

MR. SELZNICK:  When you show up to see the customer, the form is blank?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you are filling in the form, after you have this discussion with the customer - I assume it is after you have the discussion with the customer - how are you standing with the customer?  Can he see or she see how you are filling in the form?

G.S.:  Normally, the customer on the right-hand side.  I always confirm that, Your first name is [W.], and the spelling.

MR. SELZNICK:  Don't say the names.

G.S.:  Sorry.

MR. SELZNICK:  The form is only filled out when you are with the customer?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is the form -- do you make any additions to the -- do you make any additions to the form after the customer signs it?

G.S.:  No.  Normally, I ask the customer, like, What is the best time to call you after ten days so we can confirm it with you.  So I wrote the time on the --

MR. SELZNICK:  In this binder set, there aren't the terms and conditions and there aren't the business form certificate.

Do you always give out the registration form and the certificate and the terms and conditions?

G.S.:  Yes.  We have to leave the copy of the form and the brochure with the terms and conditions and my business card.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I can turn you to tab G on that binder?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  The document is called "Consumer Complaints Response"; do you see that?  Okay.  Now, you are probably not familiar with this document -- the document, but I would like to take you to page 2 of the document.  This is a summary of the complaint made by the consumer in this case.

I am not -- you can pursue it, but I am just going to ask you specific questions, and I will sort of read the sentence so you don't have to read the whole thing.

This customer -- and my friend will correct me if I am wrong.  This customer alleges that you said you were from Oakville Hydro when you were at the door.  Did you ever say that?

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  What are the consequences of you saying you are from the utility?

G.S.:  That's the termination of my job.  I can lose my licence; right?

MR. SELZNICK:  They're also alleging that you said the bill would not change and they wouldn't be tied to anything.

G.S.:  No.  In this, normally we advise the customer, our customer, that, You are going to receive the bill from your local utility, but Summitt Energy will be your service provider for the natural gas on and the hydro if they decide to go with our price protection program.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you ever describe the Summitt Energy price protection -- ever describe the Summitt Energy price protection program at -- I have lost my place here -- to result in bills not changing?  What do you think the reference to bills not changing means here?

G.S.:  In that manner, like, if some customers are curious, like, Am I going to receive another bill from your company?  The answer is, no, because our Summitt Energy price protection program, it all show on the utility bill, and the customer receive the same bill as from the local utility.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  If you can go back to that document at tab 5A -- sorry, the document at tab A of that file.

G.S.:  This one?

MR. SELZNICK:  The customer alleges that you didn't discuss the price that she would pay for electricity -- or, sorry, she said that -- you said by signing the document, the price for electricity would decrease.

Did you ever make those assertions in your sales calls?

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  What do you tell them about electricity?

G.S.:  We always tell the customer on the bill, when we ask for the bill -- for example, this is your bill, and then we show to them, This is what your market price right now paying.  And normally I ask for the past bill, too, so I can show to them, like, for example, Last year you was paying this much price.  This year the price has increased, and there is, like, potential you going to save if you have locked the price with the -- our company for the five-year term.

MR. SELZNICK:  What if the person asks you about smart meters?

G.S.:  Smart meters are totally -- like, they're called time-of-use meters, in that -- from the local agency, they divide the whole time zone between three different time slots, and they charge, like, a maximum during the daytime when maximum load -- on the hydro bill.  And then in the mid peak, they charge around 7 cents.  In the off peak time and during the night, utility charge 5 cents.

But our company provide the price stability at 7-point -- depends, right, 7 or 8 cents.  That will remain the same for the term.  It will never fluctuate according to time-of-use meters.

MR. SELZNICK:  Let's move on to the next claim for a second.  The next one I want to speak to is the assertion in paragraph 3.1.5 of the notice of intention, which is concerning the complainant P.K.

If you could hand the witness that binder, please, and the unredacted version of the registration form, as well?

So if you could just go to tab A of this particular binder, I am going to -- you can sort of agree with me or not agree with me with these questions, just to move things along.

I take it, again, you don't know this person personally, but the address is in an area that is familiar to you?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  This is your handwriting, other than for the customer's signature?

G.S.:  Yes, it is.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is your signature at the bottom and the badge number.

As with the other case, when did you fill out this information?

G.S.:  With the customer, during that time and date.

MR. SELZNICK:  Not after?

G.S.:  Not after.  It is impossible.  Like, you can't.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you can go to tab G, this is the consumer complaint response for this particular matter.  If you go to the top of the second page --

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- and just for a couple of things I am going to point out to you.  The customer alleges here -- and she asks you whether you were with Horizon, and you said, yes.

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Would there ever be a circumstance where you responded you were from the utility?

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Or you told the people you were from the utility?

G.S.:  I show my ID.  Like, this is from Summitt Energy for volume price protection program, not from the local utility.

MR. SELZNICK:  She also alleges that you said she was paying too much and you could -- and you could get a lower rate.

G.S.:  No, that is not true.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is not a statement you would have made?  And in this circumstance, do you recall not leaving a registration form, a term and condition, and certificate business card?

G.S.:  We always leave the customer -- the copy of the application and the brochure and the business card, too, as well.

MR. SELZNICK:  The claimant here alleges that after you looked at the hydro bill, you said you could offer an immediate discount.  Do you know what she is referring to there?

G.S.:  No, because that is not possible.

For the hydro, like, lots of customers, they are curious about the time-of-use meter, so we have to explain to them.  Like, in that, like, sometime we check on the bill.  This is on peak time.  You are using most of your electricity in that -- during time period.  So, potentially, you will save, because you are paying 9.2 cents, 9.9 cents today, and we are still offering 7.2, which is flat for the five year.  It doesn't matter when you are using your electricity.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And can we look now at the next one, which is -- the next binder, which is the matter 3.1.6 in the notice of intention, which are the customers K.S. and R.S.

Again, can you hand the unredacted copy of the registration form?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Again, these individuals I take it are not known to you, but you were in or about that area at this time and this is your handwriting?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Other than for their signature?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is your name and signature on the bottom?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And just correct my impression if I am wrong here, but in this area where this matter took place, are there smart meters, to your knowledge?

G.S.:  No.  That's the funny thing, right.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain that for me?

G.S.:  Yes.  Because in Kitchener, we never saw smart meters.  Even if you notice, I took the customer's cell phone number here, because he was interested, because you see normally I write that --

MR. SELZNICK:  Excuse me.  Can you show me where you are pointing?  Where are you pointing?

G.S.:  On the copy of the form, because I wrote that time, too, right, because maybe at that time the customer told me to call between that time period so we can confirm that he is interested, or not, in our program.

MR. SELZNICK:  So if you can turn to tab G right now of that binder?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you look at tab G, the second page mentions the complaint as received here?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the allegation is that you identified yourself as from Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro.  I take it you did or -- you did or you didn't?

G.S.:  Like -- sorry.  Can you repeat that?

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you say -- do you agree with the -- or did you make the statement to the homeowner here that you were with Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro?

G.S.:  No, never.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you look at the third sentence here in this complaint, where it says:

"He had a stack of bills and said he was collecting them for regulation."

What do you think that means?  Can you attribute that to anything you were doing at the time?

G.S.:  No.  Normally, maybe this is all, like, those market news cuttings that we have.  Maybe that's what they're referring to, because sometimes we make the list in the area for the call-backs, that these customers were not home so we can check them in the evening, so...

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you explain the five-year price protection program?

G.S.:  Oh, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And in this area, there were no smart meters then?

G.S.:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Would a discussion about smart meters have been in your normal presentation?

G.S.:  If the customer ask, then we have to explain it to them, but normally -- I am pretty sure, like, at that time there were no smart meters in Kitchener.  Maybe they put it in another year.

MR. SELZNICK:  And these complaints were filed with the OEB, and I think your evidence earlier was that you had conversations with your manager about complaints.

Did you discuss these complaints with your manager?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  What were the outcome of the complaints?  What transpired after that?

G.S.:  I was retrained, and after this we went through all of the whole process with the training.

MR. SELZNICK:  And when did you stop working for Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  On -- approximately in June of this year.

MR. SELZNICK:  And that was because of why?

G.S.:  Because of these complaints here.

MR. SELZNICK:  And are you employed today?

G.S.:  No.  I am unemployed now.

MR. SELZNICK:  And why are you here, then, in this proceeding?  What motivated you to come and answer my request to come and speak about these?

G.S.:  Basically, because I love this job, and I need a job, too, right?  And I want to work for Summitt Energy to get my licence back.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Tunley?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Sir, I act on behalf of the compliance counsel for Board Staff.  So I am going to ask you some questions about the issues you have dealt with with Mr. Selznick, and there may be questions from other persons as well.

Just to start with, you told us, I think, you started work with Summitt in February 2008; was that right?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so when we look at tab C in the training binder, the very large binder that you were taken to, tab 4C, do you remember Mr. Selznick asked you about this contract or agreement form that was signed in March '09?

You remember you were asked about this agreement you signed in March '09?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is a year after you first started work for Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  Yes.  That's the yearly training.  We got it every year.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So you would have taken the OEA test a year before, when you first started, as well?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  We don't have a copy of the test, the result you received on the test, the first time.  The one we have is the result, the score you got after a year on the job; is that right?

This is the contract and the test you wrote, signed and wrote a year after you started work?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.  Yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And then you said that you had worked for another energy marketer called Superior; is that right?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Before this, before February 2008, for a month or two?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  When was that?

G.S.:  We were selling the natural gas.

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm sorry?

G.S.:  I was selling the natural gas price protection program.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  From what date to what date?

G.S.:  I don't recall the date, but it was December, January.  We worked for, like, 30 to 40 days, roughly.  It didn't went very well that time.

MR. TUNLEY:  Which year, in 2008?

G.S.:  End of 2007.  That was December, I guess, and then January 2008.  After that we --

MR. TUNLEY:  So immediately before you began work with Summitt, in that period immediately beforehand?

G.S.:  Yes.  There was a gap for a month and a half, I guess.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And why did you leave that company?

G.S.:  That time, I went back to my country, so I left the job even.  And I didn't went very well with my manager.  So he decided to switch to Summitt Energy Management.

MR. TUNLEY:  When you came back, you were with the same manager you'd had working for Superior?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I don't want you to repeat his name, but is he a company?  Or is he just a local manager for Summitt Energy?

G.S.:  He is a regional manager.

MR. TUNLEY:  A regional manager?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Does he have an independent company or is he a solo contractor, do you know?  Don't tell me anything you don't know, but I am asking if you know whether he is a company or whether he is just someone who works for Summitt Energy.

G.S.:  He is regional manager.  I don't know what the term to use, like...

MR. TUNLEY:  Your badge number, as I understand it, sir, is NA1002 at the time?

G.S.:  It's MA.

MR. TUNLEY:  MA, I beg your pardon.  And do you know what MA stands for?  Don't say it if it is the person's name.

G.S.:  That's his name, yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So it is an individual?

G.S.:  Yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  As far as you know, you work for him personally?  You are not aware of another company?

G.S.:  I work for him, and he hands over the contracts to Summitt office.

MR. TUNLEY:  I see.  Okay.

And you don't know the nature of his relationship with Summitt specifically?  You just --

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- work for him?  Okay.

You mentioned many one-on-one meetings with your manager from time to time.  I take it there was more than just you on his team.  How many agents did he manage?

G.S.:  Roughly, we were between eight to 10, 12 people are working under him, in the one vehicle.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So he is managing eight to 12 people, depending on the time?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And you said that there were some one-on-one meetings with him from time to time?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  Apart from these group meetings that you had with all of the agents together; is that right?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And am I right that in that -- one-on-one meetings, you would talk with the manager, among other things, about not having enough sales in a given time frame?  I think you said that.

G.S.:  Lots of things, like not only this thing, because if I am not doing good, he's going to ask me, like, What's wrong?

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

G.S.:  I got the retraining through my manager.  He shadowed me at the door.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.

G.S.:  I listened to him.  Kind of these kinds of things.

MR. TUNLEY:  Were there quotas?  Was there a quota that you were expected to meet that would give you a measure of whether you were getting enough or not enough sales?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  So it was just --

G.S.:  Every week was different.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- something that you just discussed, but nothing was written down in terms of a quota?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So before you started work, selling gas contracts for Superior, had you had any education or training or work experience in the energy sector?

G.S.:  That's the only -- with Superior Energy Management, once I was trained, and after this in the Summitt office.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that was the first time you had been in this business?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You had no jobs to do with the energy prior to that date?

G.S.:  Prior to that, yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  And did you have any education that related in any way to the energy business?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  What about sales or marketing?  Had you had any training, experience or work experience in the area of sales or marketing before you worked for Superior?

G.S.:  Well, the sales department, like, I used to work for Rogers.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

G.S.:  Before selling the natural gas for Superior Energy Management.

MR. TUNLEY:  In a store or in a door-to-door --

G.S.:  In a store in a mall.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I got you.  Okay.  And you used in your evidence the word "business card".  Do you remember you used that word?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in the Summitt Energy kit sales binder -- if you could just find that binder.  It is the smaller of the three that is in front of you.


Am I right that that is -- the document in tab 3, when you say "business card", you are referring to this document, the blue document headed "Summitt Energy Certificate"?

G.S.:  Yes.  On the back of the document, we always leave my name and ID.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You agree with me this is not what most people would think of when they use the term "business card"?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you call it a business card?  Do you say to the customer, Well, here is my business card?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You do?

G.S.:  Like, this is my -- basically, when the customer want us to leave with something them, it is how we going to contact you back.  It contains our company address and the toll-free number on that website.  After that, I talk to you about this, I explain it to you, then we have to leave the name and ID number.  So this contains more than enough, like, more than our business card, even.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will agree with me that all of that information is also on the registration form and on the terms and conditions?  You can get all of that information from the combination of the registration form and the brochure with the terms and conditions in it; right?

G.S.:  I didn't get that, quite.  Like...

MR. TUNLEY:  What you are telling me, sir, in terms of the information about the website, the toll-free number, your badge number, your name, all of that information is already in either the registration form or the terms and conditions?

G.S.:  The customer don't want to sign with our company, then we don't leave -- we don't even have to write, you know, so we leave the brochure, terms and conditions and this business card.

MR. TUNLEY:  You would only use this document if the customer said, I don't want to sign?

G.S.:  Yes.  If he want more time, then he can contact us back in the future.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.

So the training that you talked about where you were in the classroom for, I think you said -- well, let me get it exactly right what you said.  Two to three hours in the classroom; is that right?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that was when you first joined in 2008, February 2008?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  You have to say "yes", I think, for the record.

G.S.:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And then were you subject to any in-classroom training, I mean in classroom in the sense of a real classroom with a teacher rather than your local sales manager?

G.S.:  No.  It was --

MR. TUNLEY:  After that time, after February 2008.

G.S.:  The first training was in the Summitt Energy office with our training lady.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's what I understood.

G.S.:  And then after that, through our manager, like, just kind of anywhere.  It can be anywhere that our manager give us the training to -- you know, to correct us.

MR. TUNLEY:  I want to understand what you are saying, because -- and I want to be very fair to you.

You have mentioned that there are regular meetings with your manager?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right, and where you talk about updates to the industry and you talk about new brochure materials, and so on?

G.S.:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is a regular meeting.  And that is with -- I take it, that is with you and the other seven --

G.S.:  Members.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- to 12 agents, right?

G.S.:  Yes.  That happens normally during the lunch time or early we start in the morning, in a coffee place.

MR. TUNLEY:  Were there any other formal sessions, after February 2008, where you and the other agents all came together for a formal sit-down training with --

G.S.:  Every three months in the Summitt office.

MR. TUNLEY:  Every three months?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Was that in the Summitt office?

G.S.:  In the office, yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  So then was there any one-on-one training where you were -- after February 2008, where you were one on one with your manager dealing with retraining issues specifically?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And what do you recall about those?  How often did that occur and what were the circumstances?

G.S.:  Normally, it occurs only when the complaints comes, right.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So would it be one complaint would come in and you would meet with your manager about that complaint specifically?

G.S.:  Because we -- normally, we work together every day, so we talk about every issue every day.  Like, you know, we don't need to go for any formal meeting, like, you know, in a separate place.  We are like friends.  So we work together every single day, so he talk to me, like, G.S., this is not good.  Like, this is going wrong.  This is what to do.  This is what not to do.

MR. TUNLEY:  And when those meetings occurred about a complaint that you had been -- that had been received about your conduct, how long would the meeting with your manager normally take?

G.S.:  Half an hour.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

G.S.:  Twenty minutes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And do you remember that that occurred often?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  How many times do you recall?

G.S.:  Five, six months, roughly.

MR. TUNLEY:  Five?

G.S.:  After five, six months, maybe.

MR. TUNLEY:  Five, six times?

G.S.:  Every five or six months.

MR. TUNLEY:  Every five or six months?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So once, twice a year or something like that?  Is that what you're...  I just want to understand what you are saying, sir.

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes?  Okay.  And those meetings took place in your offices, in your regional office?  They didn't result in any further training in the field, as I understand your evidence?

G.S.:  It always was in -- like, you know, retraining in the field, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  As well?

G.S.:  Sometimes.  Not all the times, because if I am -- even sometime we making mistake filling the application, then we have to do it correctly, and also other things.

MR. TUNLEY:  And just because you are the only -- first agent that we heard from from this agency, I need to ask you:  You are compensated on a commission basis; is that right?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you get a commission or a fee for every contract that is signed up?

G.S.:  Just commission.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just a commission.

And am I right that that you don't get paid until there is a successful confirmation call or reaffirmation call; is that right?

G.S.:  Yes, after ten days.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then if there is a complaint that comes in, and, as a result of that complaint, that contract is cancelled, is there any deduction from your remuneration?

G.S.:  In the confirmation call, if it is cancelled, then there is no deduction.

MR. TUNLEY:  No, no, no.  I understand that if the confirmation call -- if the contract is cancelled at or before the confirmation call, there is no payment at all?

G.S.:  There is no payment.

MR. TUNLEY:  You never get paid?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  But if that, for one reason or another, is successful and you get paid, and then after you have been paid that same customer makes a complaint, as a result of which the contract is cancelled -- 

G.S.:  Then there is a charge-back fee within the next six-month period.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the next six months, you are going to have a deduction from your --

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Do you receive any other kind of compensation, other than the commission?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it is with the claw-back in -- that you have just described?

G.S.:  That's the only thing, yeah.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And are you paid at all by your manager as opposed to Summitt for collecting utility bills?  Do you get any kind of payment if you bring a copy of the utility bill with you?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

G.S.:  Actually, we don't collect a copy of the bills.

MR. TUNLEY:  You don't?

G.S.:  Our company don't require.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is it your responsibility, sir, to generate customer leads, or are you just assigned to a street and you walk the street that is assigned to you?

G.S.:  That's it, yes, the second one.

MR. TUNLEY:  The second one.  So you don't have lists that you are looking at?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You are aware of the reaffirmation call process and you understand why it is part of the process?

G.S.:  That's a mandatory part of our price protection program.

MR. TUNLEY:  Were you as an agent given any feedback?  In cases where you -- a customer didn't reaffirm, are you given any feedback as to what they said about that, why they didn't reaffirm, and is that a subject where you would -- it would be brought to your attention?

G.S.:  We got the feedback only weekly, but they didn't say what happened, why, what was the reason for the cancellation.  That shows only that submission date, customer's contract number, and it was either accepted or rejected.

MR. TUNLEY:  They don't have to say what the reason is. 

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  They can cancel for any reason.  You understand that; right?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But if they do give feedback, to say I am cancelling for this reason or that reason, do you get any feedback on that?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Even if the reason is that once they got the confirmation call, they don't –- they -- in their view, your presentation wasn't an accurate one, once they hear the confirmation call under what they have signed up for, you don't give any feedback at that point?

G.S.:  It comes from my manager.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just from your manager?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I take it there is one in your regional office who does the reaffirmation calls?  Or are they done by Summitt?

G.S.:  No.  Just from the calling centre.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Were you aware of a formal complaints policy that your regional manager operated just for the eight or 10 of you, or the 12 of you?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Nothing written down, as far as you know, about how the complaints were processed, right?

G.S.:  No.  It is not in our knowledge.

MR. TUNLEY:  Other than Mr. Selznick took you to the terms of your agreement regarding cause for termination, do you remember that he asked you about the clauses in the contract you signed in March of 2009, and you -- I mean, you can look at it again if you want, but you were aware that if you get a minor to sign, or other things, you can be terminated?

G.S.:  That is our training part, right.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Were you aware that that was also part of your contract, that you could be terminated?

G.S.:  Oh, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Apart from that document, were you -- were you aware of any formal process that could result in sanctions short of termination?

G.S.:  Basically, like, we follow all of the rules for the OEB, misrepresentation, misleading the customer, identifying clearly that you are from Summitt Energy.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand that has been your evidence.

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am actually asking, though, were you aware of any document, other than the contract you signed, that set out a process for those matters to be dealt with, with you?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So the process that you have described of sitting down with your regional manager, the prospect of termination, there is no document that sets out how that all is to unfold and what is to occur, as far as you are aware?

G.S.:  These are all, like, that we read it in the, you know, terms and conditions of training manual.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.  They're not pulled together for you in one place, saying:  This is the process?

G.S.:  It was during the training and after that it was reminded to us by manager too, right, that it can cause in result of termination or suspension, and you can lose your licence, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  So unless you are approached by -- am I right that unless you are approached by your manager one-on-one, in one of these meetings, you may not be aware of a complaint that is lodged by a customer with the Ontario Energy Board?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's the only way that you are going to hear about it; is that right?

G.S.:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, Mr. Selznick also took you through the -- there are three events that are the subject of complaint, as to which the Board has heard evidence from four witnesses.  You are aware of that?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  And just to confirm -- I think it is clear in what you have said -- but you have no recollection, today, of any of those people?  You couldn't pick them out of a line, and you have no recollection of the conversations with them on those dates?

G.S.:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so when Mr. Selznick asks you what occurred or what the customer -- about what occurred or about what the customer alleges occurred, am I right that your answers are all in terms of what you would expect or what you normally do?  You are not testifying about what you actually recall on that day; is that fair?

G.S.:  I didn't get your point yet.

MR. TUNLEY:  When Mr. Selznick asked you a series of questions -- you remember he took you to the complaint form and he asked you to comment on what the customer alleges occurred, right?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, when he did that and you answered -- I just wanted to be clear -- you are basing your answer not on a memory of what actually occurred, but on what you normally do and what you believe would have --

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- or could have occurred?

G.S.:  You're right, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And you don't have a recollection specifically today?

G.S.:  It's hard to remember.

MR. TUNLEY:  For the reasons that Mr. Selznick outlined.

Now, I do want you to be -- to be fair with you, though, sir, and -- you are aware that these three events all occurred within the period between August 6th, 2008 and October 30, 2008?  So three months, three complaints; you are aware of that?

G.S.:  It just come to my notice, like, recently, when I got --

MR. TUNLEY:  That just came to your attention recently?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Were you made aware that there were three complaints in three months back in that period, in 2008?

G.S.:  Particularly these complaints, like, when I see these papers, like, come to my notice, like this is the reason why with we are here.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

G.S.:  But after every three months we were retrained.  Not particular -- they never told us, like, because of this complaint you are getting retrained, because there is lots of other reasons too, right?  So...

MR. TUNLEY:  In fairness to you, as I look at my notes, the complaints wouldn't have come in until early 2009, March and later.  So you might not hear about them right away at all; is that fair?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But I just want to be fair to you, and say all of these witnesses have come before this Board --under oath, as you are -- and have said to the Board that you led them to believe one way or another that you represented their utility.

You understand that is what they're saying?

G.S.:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you have given us your evidence on that.  I just want to be fair.  You believe they misunderstood; is that fair?

G.S.:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  And do you have any other explanation why all four of these individuals would make that allegation about your conduct?

G.S.:  Because they want to get out of the contract, right?  They are assuming that, because I showed them the ID.  I was wearing the Summitt badge.  They know English, right?

So after 10 days, the call was made.  They say, yes, they are agreed to that five-year contract.

So I don't see any reason, like,...

MR. TUNLEY:  You believe they were mistaken about what they heard or they're lying today, one way or another?

G.S.:  It is -- anybody can think anything, right?  It is freedom, you know, so they are assuming that that way.  So it is not my problem.  They can think anything, whatever they want.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you are aware that those -- some, at least, of those witnesses have told this Board that you didn't leave the terms and conditions brochure with them when you left their house?

G.S.:  It is always attached with the application normally, right?  So we leave them with the pamphlet, the brochure, and with the business card, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  So again, either they -- your understanding is either they misunderstood and mislaid the document, or they're lying to the Board?

G.S.:  Probably.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  I just wanted to hear what you had to say about that.

Thank you, sir.  I have no further questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any redirect, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SSELZNICK:  I think I just have one or two short questions.  And I just want to be clear from your evidence.

Did you discuss these three complaints with your manager?

G.S.:  Yeah.

MR. SELZNICK:  Even though he might not have shown you the actual --

G.S.:  He never showed me.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is my only question.  Thanks.

MR. DUFFY:  No questions from the Board Staff on this witness.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Hare?
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  I just have one question.  Just recently, you said that you always leave the terms and conditions with the application.

G.S.:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  By "the application" you mean the registration card?

G.S.:  Yeah.

MS. HARE:  Is that how you refer to it when you speak to a customer, either calling it "registration card" or "application"?

G.S.:  Yes.  We always explain the first page of the application, that after 10 days we have to confirm with you, and that on the business card it states that we have to call the customer between next 10 to six days.

MS. HARE:  So you use words like "application"?  You don't actually say "five-year contract"?

G.S.:  I just inform.  So when we take -– no, when we fill the application we, went through all that, like:  This is a five-year contract.  The price will be fixed for 30 cents, and -- yes, the price protection program.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have a question that sort of follows on that.

I took your evidence to be that the customer would -- correct me if I am wrong, if I get this sequence wrong -- you would present to the customer your sales presentation, and if the customer signed the registration form or -- you described it as a registration form or application; right?  Is that how you regard it?

G.S.:  Yes.  Registration form, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And at that point -- what happens at that point?  What do you do?

G.S.:  Normally, when we leave copy with the customer, we fold it in the brochure, the big green one, and we leave the business card -- 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

G.S.:  -- the hundred percent price protection warranty certificate, including the blend and extend option sometime.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there any further discussion with the customer at that stage, once they have signed that registration form?

G.S.:  Yes.  They will ask me a question -- like, if you have any question, you can ask me now, and later on on the phone they are going to be talking to you after ten days.  And it is all up to you, because right now you are not jumping into anything today.  After that, if you want to talk to your partner, you can make up your mind.  After ten days, if you want to say yes that you want to enrol in our price protection program, go ahead.  If you are not interested, you can say no over the phone, or, if you need more time to think about that, we can call you later.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Anything arising?

There being no questions arising, thank you very much, sir.  You are excused.  Thanks for your assistance.

G.S.:  Thanks so much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will take 15 minutes, and then have the last witness of the day.

[Witness withdraws.]


--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:31 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  Please be seated.
A.B., SWORN

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much for coming. Mr. Beitchman is going to be asking you questions.  Board compliance staff is going to be asking some questions.  Perhaps Board Staff, and the Panel may ask you some questions.

If at any time you are unsure about how to proceed, or whether you should answer or how you should proceed, please ask Mr. Beitchman, and you can always ask me and I will help as much as I can.

A.B.:  Okay.  No problem.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The witness is here to address item number 4 in the notice of intention, specifically items 4.1.1, 4.1.3, 4.1.4 and 4.1.5.

Thank you for coming today, Mr. B.

A.B.:  No problem.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  You will notice I am referring to you by your initials, A.B., and we do that for privacy reasons.  If we are referring to any of the complainants, we will also be referring to them by initials, and I would ask you to do the same, please.

A.B.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So I understand that for a period of time, you were selling energy contracts on behalf of Summitt Energy; is that right?

A.B.:  Yeah, right.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  When was that?

A.B.:  I started in August last year, 2009, and until June this year, 2010.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, you weren't working directly for Summitt Energy; you were working for another company?

A.B.:  I think I work for Vi Va.  Vi Va, they represent Summitt Energy.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

And before that, did you have any experience in the energy retail market?

A.B.:  Yeah, I have experience.  I used to work in 2006 for Mississauga office.  It was -- they work it for Superior Energy Management.  So I sell gas only, natural gas, at that time.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And was that previous employer at all related to Vi Va?

A.B.:  Yes.  It was also office from Viva, but it was another name you can probably...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

When you started with Vi Va in 2008 -- sorry, August 2009, did you have any training when you started?

A.B.:  Yes, of course.  It was class training during a few hours, and I passed exam after that, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you tell me about the subjects that were discussed in that training course?

A.B.:  They explained us regarding the electricity market, gas market, what is going on, what does it mean, regulated, deregulated prices, and a lot of -- a lot of about smart meters program going to take effect, all houses in Ontario.

And they also learn us what we have to do in front of customer and what we -- what we don't have to do.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you tell me about what you were told that you have to do?

A.B.:  Yes.  What I have to do in front of customer, first of all, I have to identify myself properly.  So usually I have to say, Hi, Mr. Customer.  I am from Summitt Energy.  My name is A.  So we offering price protection program.  Something like that, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And what kinds of things --

A.B.:  And I show badge, yeah, usually.  And I wear usually T-shirt or hat with "Summitt Energy" on it.  So...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And what kind of things did they tell you not to do?

A.B.:  I don't have to do, for example, I don't have to say, I am from utility, local utility company.  I never say that.

And if customer, for example, I knock on the door and customer become angry right away, so as a rule number 1, just leave this customer and go away.  Right away.  Yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, did they -– well, maybe I will turn it up for you.  Do you have a binder in front of you called "Summitt Energy sales kit"?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And can I ask you to turn to tab 1H of that kit?

A.B.:  1H.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Did you learn about this form in your training?

A.B.:  Yes.  They trained us how to fill out this application, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And what did they teach you about how to fill out the application?

A.B.:  They said I have to explain, first of all, about prices.  So it's written, prices regarding smart meter here, right here.  So what's going to happen when smart meter program going to take effect.

So usually I show customer what is going to happen, what prices.  They going to pay for electricity during the day.  It is going to be three prices.

And yeah, usually I start asking:  What is your first, last name, your home phone number?  This stuff.

And when I ask the customer to sign application, usually I say:  You don't have to make any decision today.  Your signature means you agree with this information, so you can read everything during the 10 days.  You can discuss with your neighbours, friends, whatever.

And after 10 days, Summitt Energy will call you and ask you your decision.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Could I ask you to turn to tab 2D of the same binder?

A.B.:  2D, okay.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And can you tell me --

A.B.:  Yes.  Usually, I leave customer copy of application, which I fill up, and terms and conditions, and usually I leave customer article from Toronto Star, I believe, regarding smart meter, article about smart meter program.  And sometimes I leave certificate with my name on it, and my ID number.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can I ask you to turn to tab 3A?

A.B.:  Yes.  This is certificate which I leave to customer.  And on the other side of this certificate, it is filled for name and ID number, and usually I also leave my cell phone number.

So I said:  Customer, if you going to have any questions, you can call me, or you can call to company.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Where would you leave them the cell number?  Would you write it on of these documents?

A.B.:  You see it is very long filled here, so I usually my name, A., and cell phone right here, and ID number behind.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Are you pointing to the box where it says:  "independent representative name"?

A.B.:  Yeah.  I put my name and my cell phone number here.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

If I can just ask you to turn to tab 5, these are a number of items of clothing with the Summitt Energy --

A.B.:  Usually, we -- blue, like, it's blue jacket.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Sorry, are you looking at page 2?

A.B.:  Yeah.  Page 2, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  You would wear a shirt that is similar to this, but blue?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is there anything else that you may regularly wear?

A.B.:  In the spring and fall time, when it is cold weather, so I usually wear a hat with "Summitt Energy" on it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is there a picture of that hat that you are referring to in here?

A.B.:  Yes.  It's Number 9.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  It --

A.B.:  Blue hat.

MR, BEITCHMAN:  Sorry.  Go ahead, please.

A.B.:  Yes, it is a blue hat with "Summitt Energy" on it.  Yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  You mentioned that in spring or fall, you would wear that.  Would you wear anything in the winter?

A.B.:  In the winter I usually wear another hat.  It is like this, on page 14.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

If I can just ask you to turn to the next tab, tab 6.

A.B.:  Yes, okay.  Yeah, it is a badge, usually -- I mean, always on my binder or on my pocket.  It is badge like this.  And when I represent I am from Summitt Energy, my name is A., I show them this badge.

So they can see "Summitt Energy."  It is my photo on it, so, yes, and my name.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

And you would discuss all of these documents and clothing and the badge and the training?

A.B.:  Yeah.  On the training, guys said it's mandatory to wear clothes and badge, and, yes, this stuff, to show to customer should see you represent Summitt Energy, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So just staying on the in-class training for a minute, if you can turn to the binder with the number 2 in the corner, Summitt Energy sales agent sales and compliance training materials?

A.B.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Maybe Ms. Sinnott can give you a hand here.  If you can turn up tab 1B, please?

A.B.:  Sorry?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Tab 1B.

A.B.:  1B, okay.  Yeah, I recognize this page.  We came through this training material in August 2009.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  You reviewed this in the training course?

A.B.:  Yes.  We review this and woman from office explain us most topics, and if somebody had any questions, they ask it and she answered.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  All right.

A.B.:  After that it was exam, an exam.  After training was exam, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Let's stay on that point in the same binder.

A.B.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If you could go to tab 4A, please?  Maybe Ms. Sinnott has an unredacted copy of this for you.

A.B.:  Yeah.  This is my hand, yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah, I signed a paper like this here.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  If you can just turn to the last page of that, I am just trying to point you to the exam that you were mentioning.

A.B.:  Yeah.  Yeah, I remember I passed the exam 90 percent here.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This is the exam on the last page behind tab 4A?

A.B.:  Yes.  And I heard if somebody pass -- like, take less than 80 percent, they supposed to come through again training, and then pass exam again.  So I took it from first time, so...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  Just at the beginning of this tab, there is an independent contractor agreement form, the first page.

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This is your signature?

A.B.:  Yeah.  My signature, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  On the second page, that is your signature?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you remember signing this agreement?

A.B.:  Yes.  I remember it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  Then if I can just ask you to turn to the other large binder?

A.B.:  Okay.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Tab 2A?

A.B.:  2A, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you recognize this PowerPoint presentation?

A.B.:  Yeah.  I remember something also was like here, like this one, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  From when do you remember it?

A.B.:  Probably after a couple of months, we came through also some changes.  Some changes happen or something, so they gave everybody copy of this stuff and they came through in the class.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Sorry, in which class?

A.B.:  Vi Va.  Vi Va.  Vi Va office.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  At the in-course class when you started, or you saw it later on?

A.B.:  Later on something happened.  Some changes happened, yes.  Something was like -- you know, like this stuff.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So if there were changes in the industry or -- 

A.B.:  Yes, some changes happened or whatever.  The director said it is too many complaints come to Ontario Energy Board, so we have to do business more properly.  So something like that happened, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And that presentation would be by someone from Summitt Energy?

A.B.:  Yes  -- no.  From Vi Va.  Vi Va.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  From Vi Va.  Thank you.

And if I can just ask you to turn to tab 4A?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Was there any discussion of this document at the training, in-course training program, when you started?

A.B.:  I don't remember exactly like this, but I think it was, like, part of training materials.  I remember it was code of conduct somewhere, but not exactly like separate materials.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  It was part of the information sales manual?

A.B.:  It was part of training from very beginning or later on, but I remember it was code of conduct, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay, thank you.

A.B.:  Okay.  No problem.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So you have completed your in-course training and he you wrote the test.  What happened after that?

A.B.:  After that, I came to customers on the field with my manager, and manager show me how to approach customer, how to do business properly.

He show me, like, a few customers.  Like, I don't remember, like, five, six customers.  And after that, he ask me to show my presentation, my approach to customer.

So I show my presentation for a few customers.  I don't remember how many, like, three, four.  And he said, Everything okay, A., Mr. A.  So you can work independently, yes.  And I can -- I start working independently the same day, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  We have heard previously that some people are trained for maybe a full day being supervised.

Is there any reason that you weren't supervised for a full day?

A.B.:  When I started this business in 2006, yes, I was supervised for, like, two days, for full two days, because it was new for me.  But in 2009, I already had experience.  So I was with experience, so I don't need full day, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  So I would like you to describe for me now -- you have finished the training, and the next step is you were doing sales calls on your own.

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So if you would ring somebody's doorbell and they would open the door, can you tell me about how you would start your sales presentation?

A.B.:  Yes.  Usually I start like, Hi, Mr. Customer.  How are you doing today?  Something like that.  Are you homeowner?  If they say said "yes", I continue.

So I represent Summitt Energy.  I show badge to them.  My name is A.  So we are offering five years' protection program on your electricity.  You know about government smart meter program going to take effect your house soon, and show on application prices.  So it is going to be three different prices during the day, like, daytime 9.9, morning and evening 8.0, and nighttime 5.3.  And -- but, you know, when everybody sleeping nighttime, so you are going to pay something pretty high price.

So we offering 7.29 for you for five years.  So -- and we guarantee this price not going to increase within the next five years.  So -- which is very good, and -- but you don't have to make any decision today, so it is optional.  I just need to fill up simple application, and, after ten days, Summitt Energy will call you and ask your decision.  Usually like this, like something -- something like this.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, you are focussing on the electricity.  Would you ever sell gas, as well?

A.B.:  Yes.  Usually when I finish my presentation I say -- I said, Customer, we have also gas protection program, similar like electricity.  It is going to be 30.5.  I don't remember exactly price.  But it is going to be, like, stable price for you for five years and it is not going to increase.  So Summitt Energy will call you after ten days and ask you about the gas and electricity separately.

So if you want to protect your just electricity, you can say no to gas and say yes to electricity, or say yes to both programs.  So it is up to you.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And would you ask them for a copy of their electricity bill or gas bill?

A.B.:  Never, because I work this year for new customers only -- new homeowners, I mean.

So office gave me list of new homeowners, and in particular area like Mississauga, Pickering and Scarborough.  I working in three areas.


And I knew customer didn't have a bill yet, because I came after, like, a week or two when customer moved in.  So they don't -- I know they doesn't have any bills from electricity company.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you understand the reason why we are here today?

A.B:  Yes, I understand.  I heard some complaints came to Ontario Energy Board regarding me, regarding my -- how I did my job.  Yeah, I understand.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Have you had a chance to look at those specific complaints that were made?

A.B:  Yes.  My district manager in the Vi Va office mentioned something about that, during beginning of this year, yeah.  Something was, yeah –-

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So –-

A.B:  -- happening.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Sorry to interrupt you.

So you discussed these specific complaints with your manager at Vi Va?

A.B:  Yes.  What happened, for example, one of -- from director invited me to his office and said, We have complaint regarding you, so you have to go with your manager on a field and show him how you do your presentation.

So I came with my direct manager, and I show him how I present my sales call for a few customers, and he said,  Okay.  You can continue.  No problem.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I am just sure that -- I want to be sure that I understood that.

So you heard from your manager that you had some complaints against you?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Do you remember about what time that was, what time period?

A.B:  It was beginning of the year, like February

or -- February, March, something.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Your manager approached you and called you into his office?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And can you tell me about the discussion that you had with your manager?

A.B:  Yes.  My manager asked me, Do you wear clothes with "Summitt Energy"?  I said, Yes.  Do you show badge to your customers?  So he asked me everything, yes.

And he asked:  Show me your presentation.  I show him how I approach customer.

And after that, he send me with my manager to the field, and I approached couple of customers -- customers and he check it how I proceed.  He said:  Okay.  Everything okay, and you can continue, and no problem.  Yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can I ask you -- in large binder number 3, the Summitt Energy compliance and regulatory materials.

A.B:  Okay.  That's which part?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Tab 14.

A.B:  14.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  14B, please.

A.B:  14B.  Okay.  Yes, I am here.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Is there a date on this document?  Maybe at the top?

A.B:  No, I never see this document.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Sorry, I am just asking you to identify if there is a date on the top of it?

A.B:  February 22.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And is that -- just below where it says "Good day" is that your badge number there in brackets?

A.B:  Yes.  And C4096, yes, it is my badge number.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can you turn to the next tab, please?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  What is the date on this one?

A.B:  February 22, yes.  22nd.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And then in the bold there, is that also your badge number?

A.B:  Yes.  C -- it is actually 4069 here.  I got 4096.  It is right on the first page, but it is wrong here, but, um...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I am not sure if we have a --

A.B:  The initials, A.B., it is my initials, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I am not sure if we have an unredacted copy of this document.  I don't believe we do.

But those are your initials there?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

And at tab D, if you can just turn to the next tab?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  What is the date on this one?

A.B:  February 23rd, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Those are your initials there referred to in the first line?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Then at the next tab, tab E.

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  What is the date on this one?

A.B:  June 18th, yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

And can you tell me what it says there?

A.B:  You mean...

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Just where it says "Name"?  Just a little bit below in the text:  "Please be advised..."?

A.B:  "Please be advised effective today," and the name, and "A.B." and:

"C4096 have been terminated by Summitt and can no longer sell any product on behalf of Summitt Energy."

Termination notice.  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

A.B:  My district manager said me about it, yes.  In June.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, you had an opportunity to look at the specific complaints in this case, and I don't think we need to go to each one of them.  But did you recall any of those specific customers?

A.B:  No.  No.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

Several of the complaints said that you had said you weren't from Summitt, and that you were from the utility.  How would you respond to that?

A.B:  Yeah, I always say:  I am from Summitt Energy, and how I can say in another, since if I show badge, "Summitt Energy," I wear T-shirt or hat, "Summitt Energy."

And usually I have application with "Summitt Energy" on it, and they can see it.  So...

Sometimes customers ask me:  Are you from Viridian?  Or are you from Enersource?

I respond:  I from -- not from your utility company.  I'm from Summitt Energy Management.  Yes.  My name is A.

So yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And one of the complainants suggested that you said you were certified by the Ontario Energy Board?

A.B:  Yes.  Sometimes the customer ask, Who is Summitt Energy?  I don't know this company.  Usually I answer, Summitt Energy, it's a huge energy retailer across Canada and USA.  Summitt Energy supply energy to local utilities company on behalf of our customers, so...

And Summitt Energy can keep rates stable for you for electricity and gas, so...

And Summitt Energy license it by -- usually I show badge, and it is a special number on the badge and I say, Summitt Energy licensed by Ontario Energy Board for gas and electricity, so they can sell electricity and gas.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And would you actually indicate, like show them the badge and indicate --

A.B:  Yes.  On the badge, you can see it says "OEB" and number, numbers.  Something like that, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, you have spoken a fair bit about smart meters, and a number of the complainants also say -- talk about smart meters, and say that you misrepresented that you were there to install a smart meter, or something to that effect.

How would you explain that?

A.B:  Yes.  Usually, during my presentation I try to explain.  So smart meter going to take effect your house soon, because it is going to be mandatory for everybody in Ontario.  So every house in Ontario will be connected to go on smart meter program by the end of 2010.

And some customers, after that, ask me:  So did you install smart meters on my house?  I usually -- I answer it:  No, it is your utility company responsible for smart meter and for delivery electricity to your house.

We just going to give you, like, five years' protection program, five years.  We going to give you, like, an escape from smart meters, so another option.

So we going to give you stable price, 7.29, compared to smart meter program.  And I show them price, 9.9, 8.0, 5.3.

So you see, Mr. Customer, so you have option.

So... Something like that, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  When you would have the customer sign the registration form, what would you tell them that they were signing?

A.B.:  Usually what I say, I show them this application, one more time and say, So, Mr. Customer, check one more time your name, your address, your postal code, your phone numbers.  If everything okay, just sign here and print your name underneath and -- but your signing signature means you agree with this information.  So you don't have to make any decision today, anyway.  Summitt Energy will call you after ten days and ask you your decision, so it is only application today.  So you don't have to make any decision.  I leave you materials you can read.  You can go to website.  You can see website here on the application or on the terms and conditions, or you can talk with your neighbours, with your friends, with your colleagues on your job.  So ten days going to be long enough for you.  So we going to call you and ask your decision after, later on.

Something like that.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So when you are referring to the call ten days later, is that the reaffirmation call?

A.B.:  Yeah.  It's going to like reaffirmation call.  They going to ask your decision and confirm your -- one more time your address, your name, this stuff, yeah.  Like this, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I think I would actually like you to look at the four registration forms in issue here.  Maybe Ms. Sinnott can -- if we can just start with registration number on the top right corner ending with 673?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This is your writing, sir?

A.B.:  Yes, it is my writing.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Now, in the box where it refers to the energy electricity program, is there a utility number in there?

A.B.:  It is a name of utility company.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Excuse me, I misstated the question.  Is there an account number for the utility?

A.B.:  Yes.  It is field for account number exists, but I never use it, because it is a new homeowner.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Right.  And maybe we will look at the next registration form ending in 380.  This one is in relation to complainant V.T.

A.B.:  Yes, 380.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Again is there a utility account number for the electricity program?

A.B.:  Yes.  Account number field exist, but I didn't use it.  I just put name of utility company, Enersource in Mississauga.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.  Then can we look at the next one for P.S., account number ending in 536?

A.B.:  Yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Again, is there anything filled in in the account number box in the electricity program?

A.B.:  Yes.  Field exists, but I didn't use it.  I just put the name of utility --

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And --

A.B.:  -- Enersource.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Then the last one?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This one I believe is for complainant Z.A., a contract ending in 533.  Is there a utility account number in the electricity program box?

A.B.:  No.  It is field exists, but I didn't use it here.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  So none of these people provided you with their electricity utility account number at this time?

A.B.:  Yes.  I didn't ask them, because I know -- I knew they didn't have it.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, sir.

I think there is -- just circling back, I think there is one thing we didn't touch on.  I understand that you had weekly meetings at the office?

A.B.:  Yes, every Monday we had.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you tell me about those meetings, what would happen?

A.B.:  Yeah.  Meetings usually start 11:00 a.m., so we have to submit our deals which we produce during the week.

And usually what happen, the directors reinforce one more time or remind us what we have to do, what we don't have to do.  And if complaint happened -- happens during the week, so directors mention about these complaints.

And I remember one complaint with one agent - I don't know from our company or from another company - he came to customer and say -- and said, We do so way in this area, so I just need your name and sign here, so -- something like that.  So he said, Never do like this.  So something like this every Monday, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Would they ever do presentation demonstrations at these Monday meetings?

A.B.:  Yes.  What usually happens, director can pick any agent from class and invite him to in front and say, Show me your presentation.  And usually he show to everybody his presentation.

Actually, he invited two guys.  One guy was like a customer, another guy like agent.  And they perform presentation and everybody can see it.

And the director say it's okay, or if he has something to say, yeah, he say something.

One time I was invited to in front and show my presentation, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Those are all of my questions.

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Beitchman?  Ms. Gonsalves?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Gonsalves:

MS. GONSALVES:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, sir.  My name is Andrea Gonsalves, and I am one of the lawyers on the compliance legal team.  I have some questions to ask you about the evidence you have just given and some of the allegations involved in this proceeding.

To begin, I just want to confirm that you joined Summitt through Vi Va in August 2009?

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And, in fact, the contract that Mr. Beitchman took you to -- and I can have you look at it, if you need, but I think you signed that contract on August 17th, 2009?

A.B.:  Yes, right.  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you were with -- you worked for Summitt through Vi Va until June 2010?

A.B.:  Yeah, right.

MS. GONSALVES:  Is the reason why you were -- you stopped working for Summitt because of this proceeding?

A.B.:  No, because they stopped paying me.  They stopped paying me my money, which I -- you know, they suspend all of my deals which I had on that time.  It was hundred-and-something deals.  Every single one was cancelled or suspended; I don't know.

MS. GONSALVES:  Were you told that was because of the complaints at issue here?

A.B.:  Yes.  They said it's complaint came to Ontario Energy Board and they charge Summitt Energy, so that is why.

MS. GONSALVES:  Are you still employed by Vi Va?

A.B.:  Yes, yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  Do you sell other products for Vi Va now?

A.B.:  Yes.  We selling water heaters now and furnaces, A/Cs, something like that.

MS. GONSALVES:  Prior to joining Summitt, you have told us that you worked for Superior, and that began in 2006?

A.B.:  Yes, right.

MS. GONSALVES:  Were you with Superior continuously until August 2009?

A.B.:  No.  I worked for up to March 2007.

MS. GONSALVES:  Why did you leave Superior?

A.B.:  Because I found another job and it looks better.  Another job looks like better for me, so I switched to another job.

MS. GONSALVES:  And did the other job have to do with selling gas or electricity contracts?

A.B.:  No.  No.  It was actually cable job for Rogers.

MS. GONSALVES:  And, sorry, what was the month in 2006 when you joined Superior?

A.B.:  It was January, very beginning of the year.

MS. GONSALVES:  When you worked for Superior, you told us you only sold gas contracts?

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  So your training with Superior did not involve the electricity market?

A.B.:  Yeah.  But electricity appear in the beginning of 2007 or something like that, yeah.  So I had experience for electricity, too.

MS. GONSALVES:  With Superior?

A.B.:  With probably not Superior.  Probably it was Summitt; Summitt Energy.

MS. GONSALVES:  So that would have been after you joined Summitt in August 2009?

A.B.:  Yes.  But I probably work -- worked for Summitt couple of months before I leave this business in 2007.

MS. GONSALVES:  So you worked for Summitt and Superior at the same time in 2007?

A.B.:  No.  Probably I leave Superior and start working for Summitt, only, for a couple of months, and then I leave after that.

MS. GONSALVES:  So what months did you work for Summitt in 2007?

A.B.:  I think it was like January, February, March, like, two, three months.

MS. GONSALVES:  And what was your reason for leaving Summitt at that time?

A.B.:  I don't know.  The business became tough.  I don't know.  I didn't make enough money, so I switched to cable job for Rogers.

MS. GONSALVES:  Now, you have told us that when you started with Summitt, I gather the second time, in August 2009 --

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  -- that you did some in-class training?

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And that was for part of one day?

A.B:  Yeah.  It was a few hours, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  How many hours?

A.B:  Oh, two or three hours.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay.  Then you wrote the test that Mr. Beitchman showed you?

A.B:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay.  After that, was there any other formal training before you left in June 2010?

A.B:  Yeah.  Like, it was five or six time, manager came with me to field, and see how I perform my job, yeah.  That's like part of training, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Did anyone from Summitt come and train you during that time period?

A.B:  I don't remember.  It was only people from Summitt Energy -- or from Vi Va.

MS. GONSALVES:  It was only people from Vi Va?

A.B:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay.  So after your initial training in August 2009, you then -- periodically your manager would come out with you in the field?

A.B:  Yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And that was it for any retraining that you got?

A.B:  Yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And when you went out five or six times in the field with your manager, was that because this was in response to complaints each time?

A.B:  I don't know if it is connected with complaints or not, but the manager just said to me, A., I need to see how you perform your job, so...

MS. GONSALVES:  You weren't told the reason why the manager was coming with you?

A.B:  No.  I just remember one time, the director of Vi Va said to me:  You got complaint.

Just one –- one, probably, time, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And I think you have told us that the first time you had training in the field was the first -- at the beginning when you were hired, you went out in the field; is that right?

A.B:  Yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you watched your manager do five or six sales?

A.B:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And then the rest of the day, you showed him your sales presentation?

A.B:  No.  I show him my few customers, how I performed, and after that he leave me alone.  I just start working, started working that day.  Yes.

I don't remember I sign it -- somebody or not, but I start working the same day, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And on average, how many customers do you visit, how many homes do you visit a day?

A.B:  Usual, like, 30, 40.  Sometimes 50, on weekend, houses, yeah, but sometimes nobody home.  So this stuff happen, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Fair enough.  So if you don't count places where there's no one home, approximately how many people do you speak to a day?

A.B:  Like, 20, 25 people.  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And of those, how many will sign a registration form?

A.B:  My average production per week was 25, 30 deals.

MS. GONSALVES:  Per week?

A.B:  Yeah.  Per week, yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you work how many days a week?

A.B:  Usually six days, from Monday to Saturday.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay.  So four or five a day?

A.B:  Yes, four or five a day, yes.  Sometimes I did 10 a day, so for example, Saturday's best day for working in this business, so, and in the week days I can -- did one, two, but Saturday, 10, yes, something like that.

MS. GONSALVES:  Now, you have told us that in your presentation, you often discuss smart meters and the impact they have on electricity pricing?

A.B:  Yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  So I gather that a good part of your training with Summitt is -- involves smart meters?

A.B:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  But you would agree with me, sir, that smart meters really have nothing to do with Summitt contracts?

A.B:  Right.

MS. GONSALVES:  They don't affect the price of electricity under Summitt contracts?

A.B:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  They only apply to people who purchase their gas directly from the system, from the utility?

A.B:  Sorry, can you repeat this again?

MS. GONSALVES:  Time-of-use rates that a customer would pay under a smart meter only apply to people who purchase electricity directly from the utility?

A.B:  Yes, right.  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  And the purpose of smart meters is to save customers money by shifting the time they use energy or electricity to off-peak hours?

A.B:  Probably, but some customers who already know about smart meters, they was not very happy about that.

MS. GONSALVES:  Is it right that the way you discuss smart meters with clients is to suggest that smart meters may actually drive up the price of their electricity bill?

A.B:  Yes, yes.  I usually say it's going to be three different prices during the day, 9.9 daytime price, 8.0 morning and evening, 5.3 nighttime.

Prices can change.  It was another prices before.  Now it is these prices.  But I say, for example, Your fridge going to work anyway, daytime, right?  Right.  So –- and another stuff going to work anyway, daytime.  So some equipment going to consume electricity for highest price anyway.  So something like that, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  I think that when you were telling Mr. Beitchman what your sales presentation involves, that one of the things you say is that smart meters will be taking effect soon?  That's what I have you saying.

A.B:  Yes, yes, this year.

MS. GONSALVES:  And that when they do, the customer will be paying a pretty high price?

A.B:  Yes.  I never say "pretty high price."  I said, It is going to be higher than you are paying today.

MS. GONSALVES:  And in fact, if you visited a customer in August 2009, when you first started with Summitt, you didn't know exactly when the smart meter would be installed in that person's house, did you?

A.B:  In office, our directors already said at that time smart meter going to be installed in the year, to the end of 2010.

MS. GONSALVES:  So you were telling the customers:  By the end of 2010, you will have a smart meter?

A.B:  Yes, yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  That is something you were told by your director to say?

A.B:  Yes.  It was in the class training, and the director said about that, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you also told us that you had a newspaper article that you would bring around with you to show the customer?

A.B:  Yes, newspaper article, yes, because it is some cities like Ottawa and one more city, it is already installed by smart meters, all of these cities, and we have experience, yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you were told by your director to take that article around and show it to customers?

A.B:  Yes.  And the director said:  Leave this article to customers.  They can read and understand more about smart meters, and how they works.

MS. GONSALVES:  And I think you have -- when Mr. Beitchman was taking you through the various documents that are involved when you are making your presentation, you said that you sometimes leave behind the certificate.

What makes you decide whether you leave the certificate behind, or not?

A.B:  Actually, I always leave certificate, copy of the application, terms and conditions, and copy of article.  But sometimes they run out.  Only the reason I didn't do it, it is run out.  Because... yeah, because too many customers I perform during every day.

MS. GONSALVES:  So there may be times where you visit a customer, but you don't give them a certificate because you have run out?

A.B:  Yeah.  Certificate, yeah, can run out, yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  I would like to ask you your general process when you fill in one of the registration forms.

Do you walk the customer through the form and point out the different items on the form?

A.B:  Usually, when I perform my presentation, I show them -- I show them price -- it is right on the application -- which they going to pay during the next five years.

And right here, it is smart meter prices, what's going to happen with the customer.

And the customer can see what -- the customer can compare what he going to pay according to smart meter program and what Summitt Energy offers them.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.

A.B:  So yes, they can see everything, yeah.  And I just explain them sometimes time frame for three different prices, like daytime, starting from this time to this time.  Morning and evening, you know, this is nighttime.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you tell the customer this is an application, and that they will receive a call in 10 days, where they can make a decision; did I understand your evidence?

A.B:  Yes, yes, every time I mention about this to every customer.

MS. GONSALVES:  And if a customer shows that they're interested in, say, electricity but not gas, do you do anything with the form to show that they're not interested in gas?

A.B:  Yeah.  I go to some customers, like five or 10 percent customers, which they doesn't have gas at all, or they don't want to be protected.  So I just cross this section, gas section.


MS. GONSALVES:  So if you turn, for example, to the registration form for customer V.T.?  Perhaps Ms. Sinnott can assist you.  I don't think it matters whether it is the redacted or the unredacted, just as an example.

A.B.:  So you mean how I fill up application?

MS. GONSALVES:  Yes.  I want you to just return to the registration form for V.T. specifically.  I have a specific question for you.

A.B.:  Oh, okay.

MS. GONSALVES:  Do you see that one?

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And in the middle or in the portion that says, "Summitt Energy Electricity Program", you have written "Enersource".

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  And there is a circle and you have checked off the five years for electricity?

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  But up in the gas portion, you have drawn a line where it says "Account Number", and you have written the letter R.

A.B.:  No, it is not my hand.  I never put like this on it.

MS. GONSALVES:  That is not your handwriting?

A.B.:  That is not my handwriting.

MS. GONSALVES:  What about the --

A.B.:  Usually what I do, I just put the point inside or cross this circle, "five year".

MS. GONSALVES:  If the customer is not interested, you cross five years off?

A.B.:  I cross off all of this section, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay.  Could that be what this diagonal line is representing?

A.B.:  This one?  No.  No, that's...  No.  I don't know who did it.  That's probably -- no, it is not my hand.  I didn't do it.

I just do this stuff, like "C", "C" lines, but I didn't do this line.

MS. GONSALVES:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you.

I want to just ask you a little bit about the complaints process.  When a complaint is made about your conduct, are you informed of it?

A.B.:  I just remember one time director said to me about one complaint in February or March, yeah.  He invited me in his room and said, [A.], you have a complaint to Ontario Energy Board.  So do you wear clothes with Summitt Energy?  I said, Yes.  Do you show customer badge?  I said, Yes.  Show me your presentation.  I spoke to him my presentation.  He said, Okay, everything okay.  And so... Yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  So between August of 2009 and June of 2010, you were told once about a complaint?

A.B.:  Yes.  I remember once, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Are you aware, sir, whether Summitt had a formal complaints policy while you were employed on their behalf? 

A.B.:  Yes.  I know if it's -- complaints happens, you can be fired, what I know.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  I am talking about a documented complaints policy, something that is given to you that you understand, when a complaint is made, how it is going to be handled.

A.B.:  No, I never get something like this.  I never get any paperwork about complaints.

MS. GONSALVES:  And I think you told us, sir, that you only visit new homeowners?

A.B.:  Yes.  From August 2009, yeah, I started working by lists -- list or lists.

MS. GONSALVES:  Who gives you those?

A.B.:  My manager.

MS. GONSALVES:  Your manager.  Does your manager give you an MLS listing?

A.B.:  That was like Excel file, and I can see, like, numbers, street, name; if it is townhouse, it is unit number; and name of previous homeowner.

MS. GONSALVES:  Do you have both the name of the previous homeowner and the new homeowner?

A.B.:  No.  Only previous.

MS. GONSALVES:  Only previous.

A.B.:  Yes, but I never use it, so I just need to -- I just need the address, yes, for my job.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you do this because there is a better chance that new homeowners will sign up to the program?

A.B.:  I think new homeowners, it is better to go to them, because most likely they don't have any protection program.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  So the theory is there is a better chance they're going to sign up?

A.B.:  Yes.  Better chance, yeah, because they don't have any, some -- most likely.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you understand, sir, that in this proceeding there have been four complainants who have made allegations that you have made a variety of misrepresentations in your sales presentation?

A.B.:  Sorry?

MS. GONSALVES:  You are aware that in this proceeding, the reason we are here today --

A.B.:  Yes.

MS. GONSALVES:  -- there have been four people who have received sales presentations from you and have since made complaints and allegations that --

A.B.:  Yeah, yeah.  I was aware about that, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  And you are aware of the specific details of those complaints?

A.B.:  Yes.  I was aware that it is most people said I came from utility.  I represent myself like I came from utility company.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.

A.B.:  So... but...

MS. GONSALVES:  You are aware that four different people, between August and the end of January -- August 2009, when you first started, to January 2010, four different people have said that you identified yourself as being from a utility?

A.B.:  Yes.  Was aware about that, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  And, in fact, you have no memory today of what you said to those people?

A.B.:  I always say -- I always start my presentation like, I am from Summitt Energy.  My name is [A.], and show badge.

MS. GONSALVES:  I understand that is your evidence of what you always say, but my specific question to you is:  You don't have any memory of what you said to these four people?

A.B.:  No, I don't remember.  I have hundreds, hundreds people meet, so I don't remember specific, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Right.  You are also aware that two of those individuals who have made complaints have said that you told them you were there to install a smart meter?

A.B.:  No.  I never said that.

MS. GONSALVES:  But you are aware that that is the --

A.B.:  Yeah.  I am aware about that, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Again, you are assuming you didn't say it in those cases because, in your evidence, you never say it?

A.B.:  Yes.  I never said I install smart -- they can ask me, Did you install smart meters?  I usually say, No, it is your local utility company install the smart meter on your house.  But I am from Summitt Energy and we just provide price protection program.  That's it, yeah.

MS. GONSALVES:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.

A.B.:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any re-direct?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  I do have one question on re-direct.
Re-Examination by Mr. Beitchman:

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Ms. Gonsalves asked you whether you were aware of any formal complaint process that Summitt energy has.  If I can ask you to turn to binder number -- that is marked number 2, Summitt Energy sales agent sales and compliance training materials and tab 1C?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  This was a document that you received in your in-course training when you started?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you turn to page 16 of that document?

A.B.:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Can you just read the heading in bold near the top of the page?

A.B.:  Yes.  It is "Complaints Process and Disciplinary Actions".

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.

A.B.:  Yes, okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Board Staff?

MR. DUFFY:  Just a couple of questions.  Mr. Beitchman, sorry, what was that reference you just made?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Tab 1C.

MR. DUFFY:  1C?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Yes.  Page 16 of tab 1C.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's in book 2 or 3?

MR. BEITCHMAN:  It is book 2.  I apologize, I don't have the exhibit number.

MR. DUFFY:  Just a couple of questions, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. B, you told us that complaints -- you were made aware of complaints against you in February 2010?

A.B.:  For one of them, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Were you fined by Summitt as a result of those complaints?

A.B.:  No, no.

MR. DUFFY:  Any other disciplinary action taken against you?

A.B.:  No.  Director just asked me, Do you usually wear clothes with Summitt Energy on it?  Do you show badge?  And show me your presentation.  Only this stuff happened; that's it.

MR. DUFFY:  Was there any further discuss of those complaints before you were terminated in June of 2010?

A.B:  No.  I just got a notice, like verbal notice from my director.  He said:  You got five -- he said, Summitt Energy was charged 100,000 bucks, so you are terminated because of that.  That's it.

MR. DUFFY:  That's all the questions we have.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Panel has no questions.
Re-Examination by Mr. Beitchman:

 MR. BEITCHMAN:  I just have one question following up on Mr. Duffy's point.

You had a meeting with your manager in about February, in response to a complaint that you received?

A.B:  Yes.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  And you mentioned previously that a manager went out on sales visits with you after, to monitor your --

A.B:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Was the visit out with you to monitor your sales presentation related at all to the February meeting?

A.B:  Yeah.  It was after the meeting, yeah.

 MR. BEITCHMAN:  So after –-

 A.B.:  Maybe not the same day.  Maybe a couple of days later, yeah.

MR. BEITCHMAN:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Thank you, sir.  Thank you for coming.  We appreciate it.  You are now excused.

And we will adjourn until Wednesday at 9:00 a.m.

 You will be happy to hear that, Ms. Girardi, we are not insisting you show up for an 8:30 performance.

I understand that notice with respect to the expert report has been made.

MR. SELZNICK:  We have circulated it by e-mail, and our thought was to have the expert speak first, very shortly, just to introduce his report, and then spend the rest of the day on Ms. Girardi's evidence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any issues with the Board Panel looking at that expert report when it is circulated?

MR. TUNLEY:  I have no issue with you seeing it now.  I am assuming my friend is going to call the evidence, and I will be ready to cross-examine by Tuesday -- or Wednesday.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Wednesday.  Thank you very much.

Once again, I would like to thank everyone for their very respectful demeanour.  It has presented some special challenges, and counsel have -- all counsel have risen to that challenge admirably.

So we will adjourn until Wednesday morning at 9:00 a.m.   And it will be in this room, actually.

Oh, I should mention that the Minister is actually scheduled to visit the Board on Wednesday, and the occasion may arise where Ms. Hare and I may have to meet the Minister, but we'll keep parties advised, and I would expect that that is not going to interrupt our schedule in any material way, but just a little bit of a heads-up.

Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m.
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